STIMULI-RESPONSIVE RELEASE OF DOXORUBICIN FROM LAYER-BY-LAYER FILMS OF POLY(2-ISOPROPYL-2-OXAZOLINE) AND TANNIC ACID

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

MELTEM HAKTANIYAN

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CHEMISTRY

AUGUST 2016

Approval of the thesis:

STIMULI-RESPONSIVE RELEASE OF DOXORUBICIN FROM LAYER-BY-LAYER FILMS OF POLY(2-ISOPROPYL-2-OXAZOLINE) AND TANNIC ACID

submitted by **MELTEM HAKTANIYAN** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science in Chemistry Department, Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Gülbin Dural Ünver Dean, Graduate School of **Natural and Applied Sciences**

Prof. Dr. Cihangir Tanyeli Head of Department, **Chemistry**

Assoc. Prof. Dr. İrem Erel Göktepe Supervisor, **Chemistry Dept.**, **METU**

Examining Committee Members:

Prof. Dr. Levent Toppare Chemistry Dept., METU

Assoc. Prof. Dr. İrem Erel Göktepe Chemistry Dept., METU

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Çırpan Chemistry Dept., METU

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Gülay Ertaş Chemistry Dept., METU

Assist. Prof. Dr. Bilge Baytekin Chemistry Dept., Bilkent University

Date: 23.08.2016

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Last name: Meltem HAKTANIYAN Signature:

ABSTRACT

STIMULI-RESPONSIVE RELEASE OF DOXORUBICIN FROM LAYER-BY-LAYER FILMS OF POLY(2-ISOPROPYL-2-OXAZOLINE) AND TANNIC ACID

Haktanıyan, Meltem M.Sc., Department of Chemistry Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Dr. İrem Erel Göktepe

August 2016, 69 pages

Stimuli responsive polymers are promising materials for biomedical applications due to change in their properties in response to changes in environmental conditions. Among all the stimuli, pH and temperature are the most extensively studied ones in biomedical applications. pH is an internal trigger. pH changes at different regions of the body. Besides, pH is more acidic than the pH at tumor tissues or at an infected site in the body. Temperature can behave as both an internal and an external trigger. Increase in temperature during a disease state is an example of an internal trigger. Applying heat externally to increase the temperature of a specific part in the body during hyperthermia treatment is an example of an external trigger.

Temperature responsive polymers change their solubility with changing temperature. Thermoresponsive polymers are classified into two: i) polymers exhibiting lower critical solution temperature (LCST) in aqueous solution and ii) polymers exhibiting upper critical solution temperature (UCST) in aqueous solution. If the polymer solution shows phase separation with increasing temperature, this polymer solution has lower critical solution temperature (LCST). If the polymer solution shows phase separation upon cooling, the polymer solution has an upper critical solution temperature (UCST). Recently, poly(2-alkly-2-oxazoline)s which show LCST-type

behavior in aqueous solution have been of interest as an alternative to poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAM), a commonly used polymer exhibiting LCST-type behavior in aqueous solution in biomedical applications.

Layer-by-layer (LbL) self-assembly technique is an efficient and a practical method for preparation of ultra-thin multilayer films. By using stimuli responsive polymers as building blocks during multilayer assembly, the resulting LbL films can be made responsive to changes in environmental conditions. This feature specifically makes LbL films promising polymer platforms for controlled release applications from surfaces.

The study presented in this thesis reports on the fabrication of anti-cancer drug, Doxorubicin (DOX) containing multilayers of poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX) and Tannic acid (TA) and release of DOX from the multilayers at moderately acidic conditions. Moreover, the effect of temperature on the pH-induced release of DOX from the surface and correlated the results with the LCST behavior of PIPOX were investigated. First, PIPOX was synthesized via cationic ring opening polymerization. Prior to film construction, water soluble complexes of TA and DOX (TA-DOX) were prepared. PIPOX and TA-DOX were deposited on the surface using LbL technique through hydrogen bonding interactions at pH 6.5. Minimal amount of DOX was released at physiological pH. In contrast, pH-induced release of DOX was observed at moderately acidic conditions due to protonation of TA as the acidity increased and loss of electrostatic interactions among TA and DOX. Moreover, it is observed that raising the temperature from 25 °C to 37.5 °C increased the amount of DOX released from the surface due to conformational changes within the multilayers correlated with the lower critical solution temperature (LCST) behavior of PIPOX.

This study is the first one reporting the pH- and/or temperature-induced release of DOX from poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline) based hydrogen-bonded multilayers. Considering the temperature-responsive behavior of PIPOX and important biological properties of PIPOX and TA, combined with the acidic nature of tumor tissues, these multilayers which release DOX at moderately acidic conditions, can be promising drug carriers for controlled release of DOX from surfaces.

Keywords: Temperature responsive polymers, Poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline), Layer-by-Layer technique, Hydrogen-bonded multilayer films, Doxorubicin

POLİ(2-İSOPROPİL-2-OKSAZOLİN) VE TANİK ASİT KATMAN KATMAN FİLMLERİNDEN DOKSORUBİSİN'İN ÇEVRE KOŞULLARINA DUYARLI SALINIMI

Haktanıyan, Meltem Yüksek Lisans, Kimya Bölümü Tez Yöneticisi: Doç.Dr. İrem Erel Göktepe

Ağustos 2016, 69 sayfa

Çevreye duyarlı polimerler değişen çevre koşullarına karşı özelliklerini değiştirebilmesinden dolayı biyomedikal uygulamalar için umut vadeden malzemelerdir. pH ve sıcaklık biyomedikal uygulamalarda en fazla çalışılan iki uyarıcıdır. pH bir iç uyarıcıdır. Vücudun farklı bölgelerinde değişkenlik gösterir. Bunun yanısıra, kanserli dokularda ve vücudun enfekte olan bölgelerinde de pH normal hücrelere göre daha asidiktir. Sıcaklık hem iç hem dış uyarıcı olarak davranabilir. Vücut sıcaklığının hastalık esnasında yükselmesi sıcaklığın iç uyarıcı olarak davranmasına örnektir. Hipertermi tedavisinde vücudun belli bölgelerinde sıcaklık artışının sağlanması için harici olarak ısı uygulanması ise sıcaklığın dış uyarıcı olarak uygulamasına örnektir.

Sıcaklığa duyarlı polimerler sıcaklık değişimi ile çözünme özelliklerini değiştirirler. Sıcaklığa duyarlı polimerler iki kategoriye ayrılır : i) sulu çözeltisi alt kritik çözünme sıcaklığı (LCST) davranışı gösteren polimerler; ii) sulu çözeltisi üst kritik çözünme sıcaklığı (UCST) davranışı gösteren polimeler. Eğer polimer çözeltisi sıcaklık artışı ile faz ayrımı gösteriyor ise, bu polimer LCST davranışı göstermektedir. Eğer polimer çözeltisi sıcaklık düşmesi birlikte faz ayrımı gösteriyor ise, bu polimer UCST davranışı göstermektedir. Son yıllarda, biyomedikal uygulamalarda çok fazla tercih edilen sulu çözelti içerisinde LCST davranışına sahip poli(N-isopropilakrilamid)'e alternatif olarak yine sulu çözelti içerisinde LCST davranışı gösteren poli(2-alkil-2-oksazolin)'ler önemli biyolojik özelliklerinden ötürü araştırmacıların ilgisini çekmektedir.

Katman-katman (LbL) kendiliğinden yapılanma tekniği, ultra ince filmler hazırlamak için etkili ve pratik bir yöntemdir. Çevreye duyarlı polimerler kullanarak hazırlanan LbL filmler çevresel değişimlere karşı duyarlı özellik gösterirler. Bu özellik, LbL filmleri yüzeyden kontrollü ilaç salımı uygulamaları için umut vadedici malzemeler haline getirmektedir.

Bu tez çalışması, hidrojen bağlı poli(2-isopropil-2-oksazolin) (PIPOX) ve Tanik asit (TA) içeren LbL filmlerden kanser tedavisinde kullanılan bir ilaç olan Doksorubisin'in (DOX) pH tetiklemesiyle salımını içermektedir. Ayrıca PIPOX'un LCST tipi davranış özelliğinin yüzeyden pH tetiklemesi ile DOX salımına etkisi irdelenmiştir.

İlk olarak, PIPOX katyonik halka açılma polimerizasyonu yöntemiyle sentezlenmiştir. LbL filmlerin üretimi öncesinde, TA ve DOX'un suda çözünür kompleksleri (TA-DOX) hazırlanmıştır. PIPOX ve TA-DOX katmanlar arası oluşturulan hidrojen bağları sayesinde LbL yöntemiyle pH 6.5'de yüzeyde biriktirilmiştir. Fizyolojik koşullarda en düşük miktarda DOX salımı gerçekleştiren PIPOX ve TA-DOX'dan oluşmuş LbL filmler, orta-asidik pH değerlerinde en yüksek miktarda DOX salımını gerçekleştirmiştir. Bunun nedeni, asitliğin artması ile TA'nın protonlanan hidroksil grupları ile pozitif yüklü DOX arasındaki etkileşimin bozulmasıdır. Sıcaklığın arttırılması ile birlikte, yüzeyden salındığı gözlemlendi. Bu sonuç, 37.5 °C'de PIPOX'un LCST değerinin (36 °C) üzerinde film yapısında oluşturduğu konformasyonal değişimler ile ilişkilendirildi.

Bu çalışma poli(2-alkil-2-oksazolin) bazlı hidrojen bağlı filmlerden hem pH hem de sıcaklık tetiklemeleri ile DOX salımını gösteren ilk çalışmadır. PIPOX'un sıcaklığa duyarlı özelliği, PIPOX ve TA'nın önemli biyolojik özellikleri ve tümör dokularının asidik özellikleri düşünüldüğünde, orta-asidik koşullarda DOX salımı gerçekleştirebilen bu filmler umut vaad eden ilaç taşıyıcılardır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Sıcaklığa duyarlı polimerler, Poli(2-alkil-2-oksazolin), Katmankatman kendiliğinden yapılanma tekniği, Hidrojen bağlı çok katmalı filmler, Doksorubisin To My Precious Family...

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. İrem Erel Göktepe for giving me the opportunity to be involved in this project which has enabled me to improve my knowledge and skills about the science of chemistry. Throughout this work, I have learned many indispensable pieces of knowledge of modern science. I am truly indebted to her unending valuable scientific guidance and encouragement.

I would like to show my gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Çırpan for allowing me to use his laboratory equipment.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Levent Toppare, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Çırpan, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Gülay Ertaş and Assist. Prof. Dr. Bilge Baytekin for taking part as members of my thesis examination committee and providing me with their precious comments and advice with which I have been able to make the thesis better.

This work was financially supported by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey, TUBITAK (Grant Number: 113Z586). I also thank TUBITAK for the scholarship from this project between March 1st, 2014 and February 9th, 2015.

I would like to thank all my labmates, who supplied always the best support and guidance for me during my study in the lab. Specially, I am thankful to Dilara Gündoğdu, Gökçe Çalış and Cansu Üstoğlu for crazy times that we had. Moreover, I would also like to thank to Süleyman Atilla for his unconditional help and support, I am very grateful for what he has done for me.

Finally, I would like to appreciate to my parents and my siblings for their unconditional love and moral support. They gave me the encouragement and the strength whenever I need to complete this study. My deepest thank to my precious, Halil Şen for standing by my side through happy as well as miserable moments. I am so lucky to have him. I completed my study because of his unconditional love, understanding and all the smile that we share even a worse situation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	v
ÖZ	viii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	xii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xiv
LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
LIST OF TABLES	xviii
LIST OF SCHEMES	xix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xx

CHAPTERS

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Stimuli Responsive Polymers1
1.1.1 Temperature Responsive Polymers2
1.1.1.1 Nature and Mechanism of LCST Behavior
1.1.2. pH Responsive Polymers
1.1.3. Magnetic Field Responsive Polymers6
1.1.4. Electric Field Responsive Polymers7
1.1.5. Light Responsive Polymers7
1.2. Poly(2-Oxazoline)s
1.2.1. Polymerization of 2-substitued-2-oxazolines
1.2.2. Properties of Poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s9
1.2.3. Poly (2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX)10
1.3. Layer-by-Layer Films
1.3.1. Temperature Responsive LbL Films14
1.3.2. pH Responsive LbL Films15

1.3.3. Magnetic Field Responsive LbL Films	17
1.3.4. Electrically Responsive LbL Films	18
1.3.5. Light Responsive LbL Films	18
1.4. Aim of Thesis	19
2. EXPERIMENTAL PART	21
2.1. Materials	21
2.2 Methods and Instrumentation	23
2.3. Synthesis of 2-isopropryl-2-oxazoline	24
2.4. Synthesis of Poly(2-isopropryl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX)	24
2.5. Preparation of TA-DOX Complexes	24
2.6. Deposition of Multilayers	25
2.7. pH-stability of the Multilayers	25
2.8. DOX Release from Multilayers	26
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	27
3.1. Synthesis of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline	27
3.2. Synthesis of Poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX)	28
3.3. Determination of Cloud Point Temperature in PIPOX Solution	31
3.4. TA-DOX Complexes in Aqueous Solution	31
3.5. Multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX Complexes	33
3.6. pH-stability of Multilayers	37
3.7. pH stability in PBS Solution	40
3.8. Long-term pH-stability in PBS Solution	42
3.9. DOX Release from the Multilayers	44
4. CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK	49
REFERENCES	51
APPENDIX	67

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURES

Figure 1. Examples of stimuli and responses [10]. (Modified from Schmaljohann Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev., 2006) 2
Figure 2. Typical phase diagrams (temperature vs. composition) of the polymer solutions with LCST or UCST type phase behaviours. Colored lines represent the phase separation boundaries [4]. (Modified from Hruby' et al. <i>Eur. Polym. J.</i> , 2015)
Figure 3. Schematic representation of the mechanism of phase separation in polymer solutions exhibiting LCST behavior [12]4
Figure 4. Schematic representation of the mechanism of living cationic ring opening polymerization of a 2-substituted-2-oxazoline [49]. Modified from Hoogenboom et. al. <i>J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.</i> , 2004)9
Figure 5. Examples of poly(oxazoline)s with estimated LCST values [52]. (Modified from <i>Encycl. Polym. Sci. Technol</i> , 2014)10
Figure 6. Structural representation of PIPOX and PNIPAM
Figure 7. Schematic representation of layer by layer assembly of polyelectrolytes [71]. Modified from Keeney et. al. <i>J. Mater. Chem. B</i> , 2015
Figure 8. Synthesis reaction of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline
Figure 9. ¹ H NMR spectrum of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline
Figure 10. Schematic representation of mechanism of synthesis of PIPOX
Figure 11. ¹ H NMR spectrum of poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX)
Figure 12. GPC traces of PIPOX (PMMA standard, eluent: 0.01 M LiBr/DMF, flow rate: 0.7 mL/min, temperature: 50 °C, RI detection)
Figure 13. Change in hydrodynamic size of PIPOX as a function of temperature31
Figure 14. The size distribution curves of pure TA and TA-DOX

- **Figure 15.** Multilayer growth of PIPOX/TA and PIPOX/TA-DOX at pH 6.5. Multilayers were grown onto a precursor film with a thickness of 5.5 nm. The thickness values on the graph include the precursor layer thickness. 35

- **Figure 21**. AFM images of multilayers composed of PIPOX and TA-DOX after exposure to PBS solution for 7 hours at pH 7.5 at 25 °C (A); at pH 7.5 at 37.5 °C (B); at pH 5 at 25 °C (C) and at pH 5 at 37.5 °C (D)......43

Figure A. 1. The change in the particle size distribution values with increasing amount of DOX in the TA-DOX
Figure A. 2. The change in zeta-potential values with increasing amount of DOX in the TA-DOX
Figure A. 3. The images demonstrate the increase in the turbidity of the solutions

LIST OF TABLES

able 1. Structures of Polymers and Chemicals
--

LIST OF SCHEMES

SCHEMES

Scheme 1. Chemical structures of TA and DOX and the association among TA and
DOX molecules at pH 6.5
Scheme 2. Chemical structure of PIPOX
Scheme 3. Schematic representations of LbL film deposition cycle and the
multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX
Scheme 4. Schematic representation of DOX release from the multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX at pH 7.5 and pH 5.5 at 25°C
Scheme 5. Schematic illustration of DOX release at 25°C and 37.5°C at pH 5.548

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

LCST	Lower critical solution temperature	
UCST	Upper critical solution temperature	
PNIPAM	Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)	
РОХ	Poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)	
РАА	Poly(acrylic aicd)	
РМАА	Poly(methacarylic acid)	
PDMAEMA	Poly(<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethylaminoethly-methacrylate)	
PDMAEMA	Poly(<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -diethyl aminoethly-methacrylate)	
CROP	Cationic ring opening polymerization	
РЕТОХ	Poly(ethyl-2-oxazoline)	
PIPOX	Poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline)	
PcPrOX	Poly(c-propyl-2-oxazoline)	
PnPOX	Poly(n-propyl-2-oxazoline)	
PMEOX	Poly(2-methy-2-oxazoline)	
PEG	Poly(ethylene glycol)	
LbL	Layer-by-layer	
PVP	Poly(vinyl pyrrolidone)	
PVA	Poly(vinyl alcohol)	

PAAm	Poly(acrylamide)	
PEO	Poly(ethylene oxide)	
DOX	Doxorubicin	
PVPON-b-PNIPAM	Poly(N-vinyl pyrrolidone- <i>b</i> -poly(N-isopropyl acryl amide)	
MB	Methylene Blue	
РАН	Poly(allyamine hydrochloride)	
PVS	Poly(vinyl sulfate)	
DS	Dextran sulfate	
PEO- <i>b</i> -PHMEA	Poly(ethylene oxide)- <i>block</i> -poly(2-hydroxylethyl methacrylate)	
НА	Hyloplasm Acid	
R6G	Rhodamine 6G	
PMEMA-b-PDPA	Poly[2-(N-morpholino)ethyl methacrylate-block-2	
	(diisopropylamino)ethyl methacrylate]	
PSS	Poly(styrene sulfonate)	
α-CD	Cyclodextrin	
PB	Prussian Blue	
PDAC	Poly(diallyldimethyl ammonium chloride)	
BPEI	Branched poly (ethylene imine)	

ТА	Tannic Acid
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
GPC	Gel Permeation Chromatography
AFM	Atomic Force Microscopy

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Stimuli Responsive Polymers

Stimuli responsive polymers change their properties in response to changes in environmental conditions. They have been widely investigated for several different applications, e.g. controlled drug release systems, tissue engineering applications, gene delivery systems [1-4]. These polymers are also named as 'smart' [5], 'environmental sensitive' [6] or 'intelligent' [7] polymers because of their fascinating properties, i.e. ability of rapid change in their microstructural forms with a slide change in environmental conditions [5]. This change can be triggered by either externally or internally. pH and temperature are internal triggers. The change in pH in the body can occur at certain organs or disease states. The increase in temperature in the body may occur in the presence of pyrogens, specific enzymes or antigens [8]. External triggers include light, magnetic field, electric field, and ultrasound [8]. Of note, temperature increase can be modulated externally in biomedical applications, e.g. heat-triggered subdermal implants [8]. The response of these smart polymers are mostly reversible and can be observed in the following ways: - alteration in shape, physical state, change in optical, electrical or mechanical features, surface characters, hydrophilic/hydrophobic balance as well as solubility behaviors [3, 9]. The examples of several different stimuli and the corresponding responses are given in Figure 1 [10]. The most frequently applied stimuli in biomedical applications are pH, temperature, light, magnetic field, and electric field [10]. Among all, pH and temperature are the most extensively studied stimuli in biomedical applications.



Figure 1. Examples of stimuli and responses [10]. (Modified from Schmaljohann *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, 2006)

1.1.1. Temperature Responsive Polymers

Temperature is one of the most explored stimulus for biomedical applications because small changes in temperature can be easily and safely applied [8,11-12]. Temperature change in the body can occur both internally and externally. Heat can be applied to the body externally or the body temperature may arise in a disease state [8]. Temperature responsive polymers, also named as thermoresponsive polymers, go into a phase transition and a significant change in their solubility is observed at a critical temperature [8,10,12]. The phase transition in temperature responsive polymers is represented by phase diagrams which provide information about the state of the polymer solutions at a specific temperature and concentration [4,11]. A typical phase diagram is represented in Fig. 2. The lowest and the highest point of the binodal are named as lower critical solution temperature (LCST) and upper critical solution temperature (UCST), respectively [4,13]. If the polymer solution shows phase separation with increasing temperature, this polymer solution has lower critical solution temperature (LCST). If the polymer solution shows phase separation upon cooling, the polymer solution has an upper critical solution temperature (UCST) [14]. Among these two different types of thermoresponsive polymers, the polymers with LCST attract more attention than the polymers exhibiting UCST for biomedical applications. This is because most of the polymers with UCST are soluble in organic solvents and requires high temperatures for dissolution [4]. For this reason, the main focus of interest for biomedical applications is directed to LCST type polymers [15–18].



Figure 2. Typical phase diagrams (temperature vs. composition) of the polymer solutions with LCST or UCST type phase behaviours. Colored lines represent the phase separation boundaries [4]. (Modified from Hruby' et al. *Eur. Polym. J.*, 2015)

1.1.1.1. Nature and Mechanism of LCST Behavior

The reversible phase transition of thermoresponsive polymers makes them attractive candidates for biomedical applications, specifically for controlled delivery applications [14, 19]. As discussed in the previous section, in contrast to polymers with UCST which mostly dissolve in organic solvents, polymers with LCST type behavior are preferred in biomedical applications due to their solubility in aqueous environment at low temperatures [4]. The phase separation in polymer solutions with LCST type behavior is induced by disruption of the hydrogen bonds between the polymer chains and water molecules as the temperature rises. This results in contraction of the polymer chains at the critical temperature due to enhanced intraand inter-molecular forces contained within the polymers, resulting in a transformation of the polymer chains from the extended coil to globular state (coil-to-globule transition) (Fig. 3.) [4, 10].

Cloud point detection method is used to determine the phase boundaries in polymer solutions. When the phase separation occurs, the solution becomes cloudy. This method is qualitative since the detection is made visually. Besides, the data obtained depends on the heating rate. A more precise way to determine the cloud point is to measure the light transmission using turbidimetry. The cloud point is determined by the sharp decrease in the intensity of transmitted light [14].



Figure 3. Schematic representation of the mechanism of phase separation in polymer solutions exhibiting LCST behavior [12].

The thermodynamic aspects of LCST type behavior can be explained by the Gibbs Equation, $\Delta G = \Delta H$ -T ΔS . Phase separation in polymer solutions is an entropy-driven process [13]. At low temperatures, the high number of hydrogen bonds among the polymer chains and water molecules assure the dissolution of polymer in aqueous environment. The enthalpy of dissolution is favorable (ΔH), whereas the high number of hydrogen bonds among the polymer chains and water molecules lead to more ordered structure and result in loss of entropy (ΔS) [12, 20]. The sign of free energy changes from negative to positive as the temperature increases [20]. The hydrogen bonds between the water molecules and polymer chains disrupt with increasing temperature and this results in a decrease in enthalpic contribution. T ΔS

part of the equation dominates and ΔG becomes positive, resulting in phase separation [8, 12, 20].

There are many examples of LCST type polymers such as polyamides, polyvinylethers, poly[oligo (ethylene oxide) methacrylates] and poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s [19]. Specifically, poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAM) has been of interest due to its LCST of 32 °C [21] which is close to body temperature, making this polymer attractive for biomedical applications. As an alternative to PNIPAM, poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s with short alkyl chain on the pendant groups have drawn considerable attention for biomedical applications due to their solubility in aqueous solutions and temperature responsive behaviors [22, 23].

1.1.2. pH Responsive Polymers

pH is one of the most important and also well-studied stimulus among the other responsive systems due to the local pH changes in human body (e.g. stomach (pH 1.0-3.0), lysosomes (pH 4.5-5.0), colon (pH 7.0-7.5), blood (pH 7.35-7.45), and tumor cells (pH 6.5-7.2) [8, 10]. The tumor tissues are more acidic than the normal body cells (pH 7.4) due to high hydrostatic pressure inside the tumor cells leading to low levels of oxygen and high levels of lactic acid in the tumor cells [4, 25]. Therefore, pH responsive systems are promising site-specific delivery systems.

pH-responsive polymers are weak polyelectrolytes bearing pendant acid or base groups and are capable of either accepting or donating protons with a change in pH of the surrounding environment [1, 3, 6]. In this context, polyelectrolytes can be classified into two groups, i.e. anionic polyelectrolytes (polyanions) and cationic polyelectrolytes (polycations). Anionic pH responsive polymers are weak polyacids bearing carboxylic acid or sulphonic acid pendant groups which release protons and become ionized at pH above their pK_a values [11]. Among the all polyacids, poly(acrylic acid) (PAA) and its derivative poly(methacrylic acid) (PMAA) are most widely used in research studies [3, 11]. Cationic pH responsive polymers are named as polybases and contain amino or amine groups which accept protons and become ionized below the pK_a of the polycations [11]. Poly(ethylene imine)(PEI), poly(*N*,*N*- dimethylaminoethly-methacrylate) (PDMAEMA) and poly(*N*,*N*-diethyl aminoethlymethacrylate) (PDEAEMA) are commonly used polybases in biomedical applications [10, 11].

Hydrodynamic volume, configuration, conformation and solubility of polyelectrolytes can be altered by changing pH [25]. For example, weak polyelectrolytes transform from extended to contracted conformation when the net charge on the polyelectrolyte chain is decreased by changing pH and the electrostatic repulsion among the repeating units is decreased [3].

1.1.3. Magnetic Field Responsive Polymers

The use of magnetic field in biomedical applications is a developing approach to design novel drug carrier systems. Polymers and magnetic nanoparticles are combined in the same polymer matrix to prepare magnetic field responsive polymers. Ferrite, cobalt and carbonyl iron based magnetic nanoparticles are mostly preferred due to their biocompatibility, non-toxicity and non-immunogenicity. In addition to control the movement and release of drugs, these magnetic nanoparticles can also serve as visualization agents or [2] can be used to generate heat for hyperthermia or tissue ablation treatments [26–28]. Polymeric gels doped with magnetic nanoparticles [29] or encapsulation of magnetic nanoparticles by polymers [30] or liposomes [31] have been exploited for visualization and controlled drug delivery applications. Although a lot of research has been performed on magnetic field responsive polymer systems, magnetic guiding to the target site in the body is the major drawbacks of magnetic field responsive polymer carriers in practical use [8,32].

1.1.4. Electric Field Responsive Polymers

Electric field responsive polymers change their properties in response to changes in electric current. Electric field, which is an external stimulus provides accurate control over the system by controlling the magnitude of current, duration of electric pulses and the internal between the pulses by the help of an equipment [33]. Electric field responsive polymers are polyelectrolytes with ionisable groups on the backbone. It has been shown that ionization of these groups could be controlled by changing the electric current [33]. This feature has been used to tune the swelling, shrinking or bending of hydrogels, paving the way for using these hydrogels in drug release, artificial muscle or biomimetic actuators [8]. The major concern in using electric field responsive polymers in drug delivery applications is the difficulty in adjusting the dose of electric current in order not to harm the nerve endings in the surrounding tissues [3, 34].

1.1.5. Light Responsive Polymers

A light responsive polymer goes a rapid change in structure when exposed to light. Light is a cheap, easily controlled external stimulus which does not require any physical contact or a mechanical apparatus [3]. Light responsive polymers are mostly modified by the photo-sensitizers such as azobenzene, spiropyran and triphenylmethane [35]. These photosensitive molecules provide conformational changes in the polymer chains upon exposure to light, inducing either a change in the geometry (cis-trans isomerism) or polarity [36]. Light responsive polymers are grouped into two: UV-sensitive and visible-sensitive polymers. The former ones are safe, cheap and easily applicable, therefore they are widely preferred in biomedical applications [3]. The slow rate of the conformational change is the important limitation of using light responsive polymers in biomedical applications [3].

1.2. Poly(2-Oxazoline)s

1.2.1. Polymerization of 2-substitued-2-oxazolines

The mechanism of the polymerization of 2-substituted-2-oxazolines via cationic ring opening polymerization has been described since its discovery over the last 50 years [37–40]. The living nature of cationic ring opening polymerization (CROP) allows control over the molecular weight and provides polymers with narrow molecular weight distribution (PDI=Mw/Mn~ 1.01-1.3) [41]. By using multi-functional initiators [42] or controlling end-group functionality via initiation and termination steps [43], it is possible to synthesize polymers with a wide variety of architectures [44]. In addition, the living nature of CROP suppresses the side reactions, e.g. chain transfer or chain termination reactions [45].

CROP starts with the addition of electrophilic initiators such as alkyl triflates, tosylates, alkylhalides or nonylates to a 2-oxazoline monomer [42]. After addition of the electrophile to a 2-oxazoline monomer, cationic oxozolinium propagating specie is formed. The C-O bond of cationic oxozolinium propagating specie undergoes a nucleophilic attack by the incoming 2-oxazoline monomer inducing the ring opening [43]. Importantly, 2-oxazoline monomer can only be added to the active specie from the nitrogen atom due to regioselectivity of the monomer [46]. Polymerization is terminated by the addition of a nucleophile, e.g. OH⁻, NH⁻, COO⁻ or S⁻ to the chain end [47]. For example, methanolic sodium hydroxide or sodium carbonate solution can be used to form hydroxyl end group, while primary (e.g. aniline, ethylenediamine), secondary (e.g. piperidine, piperazine) or tertiary amine derivatives (e.g. pyrrole, pyridine) can be used to functionalize the polymer with an amine end-group. Sodium thiolates produce sulfur end groups whereas carboxylic acid derivatives such as acrylic acid, maleic acid or cinnamic acid can be used as the terminating agents to obtain ester groups [48].



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the mechanism of living cationic ring opening polymerization of a 2-substituted-2-oxazoline [49]. Modified from Hoogenboom et al. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.*, 2004)

1.2.2. Properties of Poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s

Poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s (POX)s with short alkyl chain on the pendant groups have been of interest for biomedical applications [22, 23] due to their solubility in aqueous environment and temperature responsive behavior [42]. LCST of POXs decrease as the pendant alkyl groups get more hydrophobic [42].

As seen in the Figure 5, poly(ethyl-2-oxazoline) (PETOX), poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX), poly(c-propyl-2-oxazoline) (PcPrOX), poly(n-prpyl-2-oxazoline) (PnPrOX) have LCST values around 60 °C, 36 °C [50], 30 °C and 25 °C [51]. Polymers with either short or long alkyl chain pendant groups [42] e.g. poly(2-methyl-2-oxazoline) (PMEOX) or poly(butyl-2-oxazoline) do not show LCST type behavior .



Figure 5. Examples of poly(oxazoline)s with estimated LCST values [52]. (Modified from *Encycl. Polym. Sci. Technol*, 2014).

Poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s, also called as pseudo-peptides due to their structural similarity polypeptides, show important biological to properties, e.g. biocompatibility, nontoxicity, anti-fouling [53, 54]. Importantly, POXs show higher stability than polypeptides due to tertiary amine groups in their backbones which provides invisibility and protects POXs from being detected and hydrolyzed by the enzymes [22]. In addition, similar to poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG), poly(2-alkyl-2oxazoline)s cannot be detected easily by the immune system, so called 'stealth behavior' [47, 55]. Moreover, they show higher chemical stability than PEG due to lower polarization of N-vicinal C-H bond than that of O vicinal C-H bond in PEG structure [56].

1.2.3. Poly (2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX)

Among poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s, poly (2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX), structural isomer of PNIPAM, comes into prominence due to its LCST of 36 °C [50]. It has later been reported that LCST of PIPOX was affected by the molecular weight

and varies between 45 °C and 63 °C within a molecular weight range of 1900 to 5700 g/mol [57].

Van Mele and co-workers reported that the minimum point in the phase diagram of PIPOX shifted to lower temperature and lower concentration as the molecular weight of PIPOX increased [58]. Importantly, in contrast to PNIPAM showing reversible phase transition with a hysteresis due to formation of intermolecular hydrogen bonds in the globule state [59], PIPOX does not show hysteresis in phase transition due to lack of hydrogen donating groups [60].

Jordon et al. demonstrated that LCST of PIPOX could be tuned by the polymer endgroups. They reported that hydrophilic end-groups increased the LCST of PIPOX, whereas hydrophobic end-groups showed an opposite effect [61]. The effects of copolymerization [62–66] and salt on the LCST of PIPOX [67] have also been reported.



PIPOX

PNIPAM

Figure 6. Structural representation of PIPOX and PNIPAM.

1.3. Layer-by-Layer Films

Layer-by-layer (LbL) technique is a powerful method for preparation of ultra-thin multilayer films. LbL films are constructed by alternatingly immersing a substrate into solutions of interacting polymers, resulting in LbL deposition of the polymers at the surface. The driving force for film growth is generally non-covalent interactions among the polymer layers including electrostatic, hydrogen bonding, charge-transfer, hydrophobic interactions and metal ligand coordination [68]. It does not require complicated chemical reactions. LbL technique was first demonstrated by Iller in 1966 by depositing positively and negatively charged silica particles onto glass substrate [69]. Then, Decher and Hong applied this technique to polyelectrolytes and reported the first LbL films of anionic and cationic polyelectrolytes [70]. Figure 7 shows schematic representation of electrostatic LbL process [71].

H-bonded multilayers are also prepared in a similar way except that the substrate is immersed alternatingly into solutions of hydrogen-donor and hydrogen-acceptor polymers. Hydrogen bonding self-assembly allows using neutral polymers as building blocks. This is important due to the fact that polycations are more toxic than the neutral polymers [72]. Hydrogen-bonded multilayers were first reported by Rubner and Stockton [73]. They demonstrated that polyaniline could be LbL assembled at the surface using several different neutral polymers, e.g. (poly(vinylpyrrolidone) (PVPON), poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), polyacrylamide (PAAm), and poly (ethyelene oxide) (PEO) [73]. Hydrogen-bonded self-assembly in organic solvents has been reported by Wang et. al. [74]. This discovery paved the way for using a wide variety of polymers as building blocks during film fabrication. Later, Sukhishvili and Granick demonstrated the first example of hydrogen-bonded multilayers of neutral polymers and polycarboxylic acids [75, 76]. Those films, which were deposited at low pH, could be erased from the surface with increasing pH values. These films are called "erasable films" and are promising carriers for the fast release of biological molecules at increasing pH values [75].



Figure 7. Schematic representation of layer by layer assembly of polyelectrolytes [71]. Modified from Keeney et al. *J. Mater. Chem. B*, 2015.

LbL is an easy and economical way to fabricate ultra-thin films. It does not require complicated equipments. There is no limitation in the size and shape of the substrate for LbL assembly [77]. Multilayers can be deposited not only at planar surfaces, e.g. glass, quartz, silicon wafer or mica [78] but also at 3D substrates, e.g. capsules, nanotubes [79]. LbL technique allows precise control in film thickness. In addition, control over the composition and morphology of the films can be achieved by tuning the assembly and post-assembly conditions [79]. Importantly, LbL technique allows incorporation of functional molecules (e.g. drug, DNA, dyes or magnetic nanoparticles) within the multilayers [80]. By using stimuli responsive polymers, the resulting LbL films can be made responsive to changes in environmental conditions. This feature specifically makes LbL films promising polymer platforms for controlled release applications from surfaces [71, 81]. In this context, controlled release of drug molecules from LbL films by changing environmental conditions, e.g. pH, temperature, ionic strength, light, has been extensively investigated [82–84]. In addition to drug delivery applications, stimuli responsive LbL films can be used in

many different areas such as preparation of sensors, gene delivery platforms or organic electronic devices [68].

Hydrogen-bonded multilayer films is of specific interest among many examples of stimuli responsive LbL films due to relatively low toxicity of neutral polymers than polycations and response of the multilayers at mild pH conditions.

1.3.1. Temperature Responsive LbL Films

LbL films of homopolymers with LCST are mostly constructed via hydrogen bonding interactions among the polymer pairs. Many research groups have previously reported on hydrogen-bonded multilayers of temperature-responsive homopolymers including PNIPAM [85–93]. A study by Quinn and Caruso demonstrated the effect of LbL deposition temperature on the thickness and internal structure of LbL films of PNIPAM and PAA. They found that when LbL films were constructed at 30 °C, which is very close LCST of PNIPAM (~32 °C [21]), multilayers were thicker and rougher than multilayers prepared at 10 °C or 21 °C. Additionally, they showed the effect of temperature on the loading and release properties of the multilayers [94]. Sukhishvili reported similar findings using poly(vinyl methyl ether) (PVME) with a LCST of 36 °C. They showed that film thickness increased with increasing deposition temperature [95].

In another study, Sukhishvili and co-workers reported on the release of the anticancer drug, Doxorubicin (DOX) from the multilayers of poly(N-vinyl pyrrolidone*b*-poly(N-isopropyl acryl amide) (PVPON-*b*-PNIPAM) micelles with temperatureresponsive PNIPAM-cores. Multilayers which were constructed above the LCST of PNIPAM were capable releasing DOX when the temperature was lowered below LCST of PNIPAM due to disintegration of the micellar cores [96].

The studies concerning multilayers of poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s are limited. The first example of LbL films of poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s using PIPOX and TA as building blocks was reported by Erel et al. This study contrasted the pH-stability of PNIPAM containing multilayers to PIPOX containing ones [97]. De Geest and
Hoogenboom and their co-workers demonstrated the LbL deposition of poly(npropyl oxazoline) and TA at temperatures below or above the LCST of poly(n-propyl oxazoline) and found that growth mechanism differs depending on the assembly temperature [98]. In another study, same researchers presented a detailed investigation of the thermodynamics of the multilayer assembly of poly(2-alkyl-2oxazoline)s and TA [72]. Caruso and co-workers prepared low-fouling LbL capsules using either linear or brush-like poly(2-oxazoline)s and poly(methacarylic acid) (PMA) [99]. Same group also reported on the intracellular degradability and redoxresponsive properties of multilayers composed of thiol containing poly(2-ethyl-2oxazoline) brushes and PMA [100].

1.3.2. pH Responsive LbL Films

pH is one of the most extensively studied stimuli in controlled delivery applications due to local pH changes in the body. The properties of LbL films can be tuned by changing pH due to change in net charge on the weak polyelectrolytes. This feature can be used to induce drug release from the surface of multilayers by changing pH. For example, Chung and Rubner demonstrated pH-controlled release of methylene blue (MB) from the surface of electrostatic multilayers. In this study, they deposited poly(allyamine hydrochloride) (PAH) and PAA at pH 2.5 where PAH (pK_a ~8-9) was fully positively charged and PAA (pK_a 5.5) was partially negatively charged. MB was loaded at pH 7 when PAA was further ionized via electrostatic interactions among positively charged MB and negatively charged PAA. MB was released from the surface as the pH was decreased due to protonation of PAA and loss of electrostatic interactions among PAA and MB [101].

In another study, insulin (isoelectric point, pI = 5.4) was LbL deposited using different polyanions, such as poly(vinyl sulfate) (PVS), PAA, or dextran sulfate (DS) at acidic conditions. Insulin was released from the surface at moderately acidic conditions and neutral conditions due to disruption of electrostatic interactions among insulin and the polyanions as the pH was increased due to charge reversal of insulin from positive to negative [102].

LbL films can be made pH-responsive by including hydrolytically degradable polymers within the multilayers. For example, Wood et al. demonstrated that Heparin can be released from the multilayers of Heparin and poly(β -aminoester) as the poly(β -aminoester) degrades hydrolytically and layers are disassembled [103]. Moreover, drug molecules can be conjugated to polymers via pH-responsive covalent bonds, e.g. hydrazone [104] and carbamate [105] bonds. Such drug coupled polymers can be used as building blocks in the LbL self-assembly process and the release of the drugs from the surface can be induced by a pH trigger. For example, Hammond and co-workers also constructed multilayers at neutral pH and released DOX at acidic conditions. In that study, they conjugated DOX to PHEMA-core blocks of poly(ethylene oxide)-*block*-poly(2-hydroxylethyl methacrylate) (PEO-*b*-PHEMA) micelles via carbamate linkage and used such micelles as building blocks to construct hydrogen bonded multilayers. The release of DOX from the surface was induced via carbamate cleavage at acidic conditions [105].

In another study, Cao and He showed that multilayers of a glucocorticoid drug, Prednisolone conjugated poly(vinyl pyrrolidone) (PVP) and PAA which was constructed at acidic conditions (pH 3) could release Prednisolone from the surface specifically at moderately acidic pH (pH 5) due to cleavage of the hydrazone bonds [106].

It is also possible to release drug molecules from the multilayers by changing ionic strength. Microgels, produced from crosslinking of PAH and Dextrane (PAH-D) was LbL deposited at the surface using Hyaloplasm Acid (HA) at pH 7.4. Ibuprofen was loaded into the multilayers at pH 7.4 via electrostatic interactions among the protonated amino groups of PAH-D and carboxylate groups of Ibuprofen. The release of Ibuprofen was triggered by exposing the film to 0.9 % normal saline [107].

Hydrogen-bonded multilayers are of specific interest for pH-induced release of functional molecules from the surface due to response of multilayers at mild pH conditions.

Sukhishvili and co-workers prepared hydrogen-bonded multilayers of poly(ethylene oxide) and (PEO) poly(methacrylic acid) (PMA) at strongly acidic conditions (pH 2). They loaded positively charged Rhodamine 6G (R6G) by creating excess negative

charge within the multilayers at pH 4.2. Release of R6G was induced either by dissolving the multilayers at high pH values or by exposing the films to acidic environment, resulting in protonation of PMA and loss of electrostatic interactions among PMA and R6G [108].

In another study, Erel at al. demonstrated release of pyrene from hydrogen-bonded multilayers of TA and block copolymer micelles of poly[2-(N-morpholino)ethyl methacrylate-*block*-2-(diisopropylamino)ethyl methacrylate] (PMEMA-*b*-PDPA). Multilayers were constructed at neutral pH when PMEMA-*b*-PDPA was in the micellar form. When the pH was decreased below the pKa of PDPA block, PMEMA-*b*-PDPA micelles disintegrated and pyrene was released from the surface [109].

1.3.3. Magnetic Field Responsive LbL Films

Magnetic nanoparticle containing LbL films are promising carriers for side-specific drug delivery due to the fact that magnetic nanoparticles, together with the multilayers can be directed to the target site by applying magnetic field [83]. For example, Lu et al. prepared LbL films with dual responsive properties, i.e. pH- and magnetic field- responsive. They deposited LbL films of oligochitosan and sodium alginate onto oil-in-water type hybrid emulsion droplets containing magnetic nanoparticles and Dipyridamole drug molecules. They showed that the direction of the capsules could be modulated by applying magnetic field, whereas the drug release from the surface could be induced by a pH change [110].

Incorporating magnetic nanoparticles into LbL films also makes such films to be used for imaging purposes [111]. In addition, magnetic nanoparticles could be used to create local heating within the multilayers, which may be interesting for hyperthermia application. For example, it was demonstrated that DOX loaded magnetic alginate microspheres coated with LbL films of electrostatic PAH and poly(styrene sulfate) (PSS) were capable of releasing DOX by applying high frequency magnetic field. The applied magnetic field provided heating of the magnetic nanoparticles and increased the diffusion rate of the loaded drug. Moreover, it was reported that application of magnetic field induced energy could result in oscillation and vibration of the magnetic nanoparticles which might have affected the wall permeability of the polymer coating [112].

1.3.4. Electrically Responsive LbL Films

The net charge on electrically responsive polymers with ionizable groups on their backbone can be modulated by applying electric current [113]. This feature can be used to control the stability of electrostatic LbL films and release of functional molecules from the surface [113]. For example, Iwate and co-workers demonstrated that electrostatic multilayers of PEI and plasmid DNA which were stable at physiological conditions were capable of releasing plasmid DNA upon application of an electric pulse. They found that both increasing number of layers and increasing electric field strength resulted in an increase in the amount of plasmid DNA released from the surface [114].

In another study, Hammond and co-workers fabricated electrostatic LbL films of non-toxic, electroactive Prussian blue (PB) nanoparticles and hydrophilic antibiotic Gentamicin. Negatively charged PB transforms into neutral state when oxidized upon application of electric field. This results in loss of electrostatic interactions among Gentamicin and PB, followed by the disintegration of multilayers and release of Gentamicin [115]. Same researchers previously reported on the voltage-controlled release of dextrane sulfate from a hybrid multilayer film containing LPEI, PB, LPEI and radiolabeled ¹⁴C-dextran sulfate DS. They found that release could be triggered only at + 1.25 V [116].

1.3.5. Light Responsive LbL Films

Light trigger was also used to release drug molecules from LbL films. For example, Cao and co-workers demonstrated that azobenzene modified PAA could be loaded into Rhodamine B conjugated cyclodextrin (α -CD) via host-guest interactions. Then, these azobenzene modified PAA loaded α -CD-RhB was LbL deposited at the surface using poly(diallyldimethyl ammonium chloride) (PDAC) as the counter polymer. Exposing multilayer films to UV-light resulted in loss of host-guest interactions among azobenzene modified PAA and α -CD-RhB, followed by release of α -CD-RhB from the surface [117].

Light-induced release of fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled dextran molecules was also examined from the surface of LbL films blended with gold nanoparticles. Application of light in the near IR provided heating of gold nanoparticles and resulted in rupture of the LbL capsule walls which then induced the release of FITC-labeled dextran from the surface [118].

1.4. Aim of Thesis

The aim of this thesis is to produce multilayers which release minimal amount of DOX at physiological conditions but release DOX at moderately acidic conditions. Moreover, the effect of temperature on the pH-induced release of DOX from the surface and its correlation with the LCST behavior of PIPOX in aqueous environment was investigated.

In general, hydrogen-bonded multilayers are of specific interest in biomedical applications due to lower toxicity of neutral polymers than the polycations and pH-response of the films at mild conditions. However, most of the hydrogen-bonded films are stable at acidic conditions and are capable of releasing positively charged functional molecules with increasing pH. Therefore, it is challenging to prepare hydrogen-bonded multilayers which provide minimal release at physiological conditions but trigger release of positively charged drug molecules, e.g. DOX, at acidic environment. In contrast to pH-induced DOX releasing electrostatic LbL films [119–123], there are only few studies reporting the pH- or temperature-induced release of DOX from hydrogen bonded multilayers [96, 105, 124, 125]. Among these, only Hammond and co-workers presented preparation of multilayers which were stable at neutral pH and released DOX at acidic conditions. In that study, they conjugated DOX to PHEMA-core blocks of poly(ethylene oxide)-*block*-poly(2-hydroxylethyl methacrylate) (PEO-*b*-PHEMA) micelles via carbamate linkage and used such micelles as building blocks to construct hydrogen bonded multilayers. The

release of DOX from the surface was induced via carbamate cleavage at acidic conditions [126]. Different from this study, this thesis presents a simple strategy, i.e. preparation of TA-DOX and using them as building blocks during LbL assembly, to include DOX into hydrogen-bonded multilayers which release DOX at moderately acidic conditions, while show minimal release at physiological conditions. Importantly, this study is also the first reporting the pH- and/or temperature-induced release of DOX from poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline) based hydrogen-bonded multilayers. Considering the temperature-responsive and important biological properties of poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s combined with the acidic nature of tumor tissues, these multilayers which release DOX at moderately acidic conditions, can be promising drug carriers for controlled release of DOX from surfaces.

CHAPTER 2

EXPERIMENTAL PART

2.1. Materials

Phosphate buffer saline (PBS); branched poly(ethylenimine) (BPEI; Mw: 25,000); dibasic sodium phosphate; sodium hydroxide, hydrochloric acid, ethanolamine (>99%), cadmium acetate dihydrate (98%), methyl p-toluenesulfonate (98%), acetonitrile (>99.9%), 2-butanol (>99%) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Co. Tannic acid (TA; Mw 1701.20), monobasic sodium phosphate, sulfuric acid (98%) and isobutyronitrile (>98%) were purchased from Merck Chemicals. Doxorubicin hydrochloride was purchased from Alfa Aesar. The deionized (DI) H₂O was purified by passage through a Milli-Q system (Millipore) at 18.2 M Ω . All materials and chemicals were used as received without any further purification.



Table 1 . Structures of Polymers and Chemicals

2.2 Methods and Instrumentation

Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR): ¹H-NMR measurements were carried out at room temperature using Brucker Spectrospin Avance DPX-400 Ultra shield instrument operating at 400 MHz.

Gel Permeation Chromatography (GPC): Gel permeating chromatography measurements were carried out in Agilent instrument (Model 1100) consisting of Refractive Index (RI) detectors and three Macherey-Nagel columns which are packed with a highly cross-linked macroporous, spherical polystyrene-divinyl-benzene polymers matrix (PS/DVB) (Columns 300×7.7 mm, particles 5μ m). 0.01 M LiBr/DMF was used as an eluent at a flow rate of 0.7 mL/min at 50 °C. The calibration was performed using poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) standards (Polymer Laboratories).

Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) and Zeta-potential Measurements: Hydrodynamic size and zeta-potential measurements were performed using Zetasizer Nano-ZS equipment (Malvern Instruments Ltd., U.K.).

Ellipsometry: Film thickness measurements were performed using a spectroscopic ellipsometer of Optosense, USA (OPT-S6000).

Fluorescence Spectroscopy: Release studies were conducted using a Perkin Elmer LS55 Fluorescence Spectrometer.

Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM): AFM imaging of the films was performed using an NT-MDT Solver P47 AFM in tapping mode using Si cantilevers. Roughness values were obtained from images with $2 \times 2 \mu m$ scan size.

pH Meter: During the experiments, Starter 3000 bench pH meter was used for adjusting pH of solutions. Calibration of pH meter was performed using three standard buffer solutions at pH 3, pH 7 and pH 10.

2.3. Synthesis of 2-isopropryl-2-oxazoline

2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline was synthesized as described previously with a slight modification [63]. Briefly, ethanolamine (0.052 mol, 3.52 mL) and isobutyronitrile (0.043 mol, 3.9 mL) were mixed with cadmium acetate dihydrate (1.08 mmol, 0.29 g) under argon atmosphere. The reaction was stirred under reflux at 130°C for 48 hours. The crude product was distilled at 50°C under reduced pressure and dried over CaH₂.

¹H-NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ (ppm) = 4.21 (t, J= 9.02 Hz, 2 H), 3.82 (t, J= 9.26 Hz, 2 H), 2.57 (m, J= 7.27 Hz, 1 H), 1.2 (d, J= 6.90 Hz, 6 H).

2.4. Synthesis of Poly(2-isopropryl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX)

PIPOX was synthesized by cationic ring opening polymerization as described previously by Meyer and Schlaad with a slight modification [65]. Briefly, acetonitrile (10.0 mL) and 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline (41.0 mmol, 4.9 mL) were added into an argon purged reaction flask capped with a condenser. Then, p-toluene sulfonate (0.4 mmol) was added to the flask and the reaction was stirred in preheated oil bath at 80 °C for 48 hours. The mixture was cooled to room temperature and quenched with 2-Butanol (1.2 mmol). After quenching, the reaction was stirred for additional 3 days at 80 °C. PIPOX solution was concentrated under reduced pressure, dialyzed against deionized water for 2 days (SpectroPor7 regenerated cellulose dialysis membrane, molecular weight cutoff: 3.5 kDa) and the product was isolated by freeze-drying.

¹H-NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ (ppm) = 3.46 (br, 4 H), 2.41-2.30 (br, 2 H), 1.12 (br, 6 H). GPC (eluent: dimethyl formamide, Mn = 15 kDa, PDI= 1.30)

2.5. Preparation of TA-DOX Complexes

0.01 M phosphate buffer was prepared at pH 6.5. DOX and TA solutions were prepared using phosphate buffer solutions. 0.01 mg/mL DOX solution at pH 6.5 was gradually added onto 0.2 mg/mL TA solution at pH 6.5 with a volume ratio of 1:4

(DOX:TA) and magnetically stirred for 30 minutes. Complexation time was specifically limited to 30 minutes to avoid degradation of TA with time.

2.6. Deposition of Multilayers

Silicon wafers were cleaned with concentrated sulfuric acid for 85 min and rinsed with DI water. After drying under nitrogen flow, silicon wafers immersed into 0.25 M NaOH solution for 10 minutes. The substrates were then thoroughly rinsed with DI water and dried under nitrogen flow. Wafers are immersed into branched polyethylene imine (BPEI) and tannic acid (TA) solutions for 30 min and 15 min at pH 5.5 as precursor layers prior to multilayer film deposition. The concentration of BPEI and TA solutions were 0.5 mg/mL and 0.2 mg/mL, respectively. Multilayers were self-assembled at the surface by immersing the BPEI/TA coated silicon wafers alternatingly into 0.2 mg/mL solutions of PIPOX and TA-DOX complexes at pH 6.5 for 15 minutes each with 2 intermediate rinsing steps with 0.01 M phosphate buffer solutions at pH 6.5) in between. For control experiments, PIPOX/TA multilayers were prepared using the same procedure except that pure TA was used rather than TA-DOX complexes during film construction. Of note, TA solution was refreshed every 1 hour during film fabrication to avoid deposition of the degradation products at the surface.

2.7. pH-stability of the Multilayers

pH-stability was examined by exposing the multilayers to either 0.01 M phosphate buffer solutions or PBS solutions (prepared as dissolving of 1 tablet into 200 mL DI water. The resulting solution was composed of 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl and 10 mM phosphate buffer solution) at different pH values for 30 minutes. pH of the solutions were adjusted by addition of 0.1 M HCl or 0.1 M NaOH into solutions. After exposure to buffer solutions, multilayer coated substrates were dried under nitrogen flow and the film thickness was measured using an ellipsometer. pH-stability experiments were performed at 25°C and 37.5°C. For long-term release experiments, multilayers were exposed to PBS solutions at 25°C or 37.5°C for 7 hours at different pH values. Figures concerning pH-stability of the multilayers are

represented as fraction retained at the surface as a function of pH. Fraction retained at the surface is calculated by dividing the film thickness at a certain pH by the initial thickness of the film.

2.8. DOX Release from Multilayers

20-bilayer films of PIPOX and TA-DOX were constructed on both sides of a glass slides. In order to minimize the quenching and self-diffusion of DOX from the multilayers during film construction, deposition time for each polymer layer was kept 5 minutes for release experiments. Of note, the film thickness decreased only by ~ 20 % when the deposition time was kept 5 minutes for each layer. Multilayers were immersed into PBS solution at pH 6.5 or pH 5.5 or pH 7.5. Samples were taken from the solution to monitor the release of DOX from the multilayers. DOX was excited at 490 nm and the intensity at 588 nm was monitored as a function of time using a fluorescence spectrophotometer. DOX release was followed until the change in intensity at 588 nm becomes insignificant.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Synthesis of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline

2-subsitituted-2-oxazolines can be synthesized from nitriles, carboxylic acids, aldehydes or 2-methyl-2-oxazoline [42]. In general, starting from carboxylic acids or nitriles, known as Wenker Method and Witte-Seeliger Reaction, respectively are preferred to synthesize 2-substituted-2-oxazolines [127]. Despite the ammonia forming during the Witte-Seeliger Reaction, both simplicity of one pot reactions and the wide variety of nitriles as starting materials make this method advantageous for synthesis of 2-substituted-2-oxazolines with diverse chemical structures [128].

In this study, the synthesis of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline was carried out successfully via Witte Seeliger reaction. Isobutrylnitrile was converted to 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline upon reacting with ethanolamine in the presence of a Lewis-acid catalyst, cadmium acetate. The reaction was performed at 130 °C for 48 hours under argon flow to replace ammonia produced during the reaction. The product was distilled at 50°C under reduced pressure (Fig. 8). Figure 9 shows the NMR spectrum of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline.



Figure 8. Synthesis reaction of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline.

¹H-NMR spectrum of 2-isoprpoyl-2-oxazoline showed that methyl protons (d) at 1.2 ppm (d, 6H, CH₃), the methine proton (c) at 2.57 ppm (br, 1H, -CH-), the methylene protons neighbor to nitrogen (b) at 3.82 ppm (t, 2H, -NCH₂CH₂ -) and the methylene protons neighbor to oxygen (a) at 4.21 ppm (t, 2H, -CH₂CH₂O-).



Figure 9. ¹H NMR spectrum of 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline.

3.2. Synthesis of Poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX)

The synthesis of PIPOX was performed via cationic ring opening polymerization. This technique allows synthesis of poly(2-alkyl-2-oxazoline)s with a wide variety of architectures. The polymerization is initiated by different initiators including alkyl tosylates, triflates or halides [48].

Synthesis of poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX) via cationic ring opening polymerization as carried out in acetonitrile at 80°C for 48 hours, using methyl p-

tosylayte as the initiator. The reaction is initiated by the electrophilic attack of methyl p-tosylayte to nitrogen of cyclic 2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline ring leading to formation of oxozolinium species. The C-O bond of cationic oxozolinium propagating specie undergoes a nucleophilic attack by the incoming 2-oxazoline monomer inducing the ring opening. The polymerization was continued until the desired molecular weight was obtained. The reaction was terminated by 2-butanol (Fig. 10)



Figure 10. Schematic representation of mechanism of synthesis of PIPOX.

¹H-NMR spectrum of PIPOX showed that methyl protons (c) at 1.12 ppm (br, 6H, - $CH(CH_3)_2$), the methine proton (b) between 2.41-2.30 ppm (br, 1H, -CHCO-) and the methylene protons on the backbone (a) at 3.46 ppm (br, 4H, -NCH₂CH₂-).



Figure 11. ¹H NMR spectrum of poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOX).

The molecular weight of PIPOX was determined by GPC analysis ($Mn=1.5x10^4$ g/mol); $Mw=1.9 X10^4$) polydispersity index, PDI=1.30) (Figure 12).



Figure 12. GPC traces of PIPOX (PMMA standard, eluent: 0.01 M LiBr/DMF, flow rate: 0.7 mL/min, temperature: 50 °C, RI detection).

3.3. Determination of Cloud Point Temperature in PIPOX Solution

The cloud point of PIPOX was determined in aqueous environment by monitoring the change in hydrodynamic size with increasing temperature using dynamic light scattering technique. Figure 13 shows the hydrodynamic size values plotted as a function of temperature. The shift in the number average size distribution curves to higher values with increasing temperature was displayed in Appendix. The results showed that the cloud point of PIPOX used in this study was approximately ~ 40 °C. Precipitation was observed at temperatures above 40 °C.



Figure 13. Change in hydrodynamic size of PIPOX as a function of temperature.

3.4. TA-DOX Complexes in Aqueous Solution

Prior to multilayer assembly, water soluble complexes of TA and DOX were prepared. 500 μ L of 0.01 mg/mL DOX solution was added onto 2 mL of 0.2 mg/mL TA solution at pH 6.5 when TA is partially ionized (p K_a of TA ~ 8.5 [129]) and bears

both hydroxyl and phenolate groups. Thus, phenolate groups of TA could associate with protonated amino groups of DOX (pK_a of DOX ~ 8.25 [130]), whereas free hydroxyl groups of TA could later participate in hydrogen bonding driven multilayer self-assembly. Of note, in addition to electrostatic interactions, TA and DOX may also associate through H-bonding interactions among the hydroxyl groups (in the protonated form) of TA and carbonyl, ether and hydroxyl groups of DOX. Scheme 1 shows the chemical structures of TA and DOX and the association among TA and DOX molecules (Scheme 1).



Scheme 1. Chemical structures of TA and DOX and the association among TA and DOX molecules at pH 6.5.

As seen in Figure 14, a shift in the size distribution curve to higher values was monitored upon addition of DOX into TA solution. A slight decrease in zeta potential (from -36.2 ± 2.1 mV to -32.8 ± 2.2 mV) was recorded due to compensation

of some of the negative charges on TA molecules by the protonated amino groups of DOX. The reason to keep TA:DOX molar ratio quite high (27:1) in TA-DOX was to avoid the precipitation of TA-DOX during film fabrication process. Of note, TA-DOX with lower TA:DOX molar ratio was also prepared. The size distribution curves shifted further to higher values and the zeta potential values became gradually less negative as the amount of DOX in the complexes increased. However, precipitation of TA-DOX speeded up as the TA:DOX ratio decreased. Figures including the size and zeta potential values of TA-DOX complexes with different TA:DOX ratios as well as the images showing the increase in turbidity of the solutions with increasing amount of DOX in the complexes can be found in Appendix. It is worth to note that another reason to keep the TA:DOX ratio quite high was to leave enough free hydroxyl groups on TA after complexation for a robust LbL film growth.



Figure 14. The size distribution curves of pure TA (a) and TA-DOX complexes (b).

3.5. Multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX Complexes

DOX containing films were prepared by LbL depositing PIPOX and TA-DOX onto a substrate at pH 6.5. The driving force for multilayer growth was the hydrogen

bonding interactions among the carbonyl groups in the amide group of backbone of PIPOX as proton acceptor and hydroxyl groups of TA as the proton donor. As previously mentioned, TA, with a pK_a of ~ 8.5, is partially ionized at pH 6.5. Thus, while the phenolate groups of TA can electrostatically bind to protonated amino groups of DOX at pH 6.5, protonated hydroxyl groups of TA can form hydrogen bonds with the carbonyl groups of PIPOX. In order to ensure deposition of multilayers onto substrate, precursor layers (BPEI as 0.5 mg/mL at pH 5.5 and TA as 0.2 mg/mL at pH 5.5) were deposited at first, then multilayers were fabricated by dipping into solutions of the building blocks sequentially. Scheme 2 and Scheme 3 illustrate the chemical structure of PIPOX and multilayer formation via LbL deposition process.



Scheme 2. Chemical structure of PIPOX.



Scheme 3. Schematic representations of LbL film deposition cycle and the multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX.

Multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX showed a linear growth profile with ~ 2.5 nm increment per bilayer. For comparison, multilayers of PIPOX and bare TA molecules were also prepared (Fig. 15). Multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX were thinner than that of PIPOX and TA due to lower number of free hydroxyl groups remained on TA upon complexation with DOX, resulting in a decrease in the extent of association among the hydrogen bonding polymer pairs at the surface. Of note, the dissociation of TA should have increased in the presence of positively charged DOX molecules. Therefore, the number of free hydroxyl groups on TA was expected to be lower than that on bare TA under the same conditions.



Figure 15. Multilayer growth of PIPOX/TA and PIPOX/TA-DOX at pH 6.5. Multilayers were grown onto a precursor film with a thickness of 5.5 nm. The thickness values on the graph include the precursor layer thickness.

The first study on poly(oxazoline) containing LbL films was reported by Erel and Sukhishvili [97]. They showed that LbL films of PIPOX and TA could be grown at strongly acidic conditions and those multilayers showed response only at basic conditions [97]. In this present study, the construction of multilayers near below the

physiological pH, providing DOX being included within the multilayers during film assembly which could then be released at moderately acidic conditions was investigated. Caruso and co-workers reported on the construction of multilayers of linear or brush poly(2-oxazoline)s with poly(methacrylic acid) (PMAA) and found that film fabrication condition was limited to pH [99, 100]. By taking advantage of the high pK_a of TA, the LbL deposition pH was extended to pH 6.5 which allowed incorporation of positively charged DOX into the multilayers during film assembly. In addition, Hoogenboom and de Geest and their co-workers have also reported multilayers of poly(oxazoline)s and TA. The thermodynamics of the LbL assembly of TA with 2-methyl, 2-ethyl or 2-n-propyl substituted poly(oxazoline)s were scrutinized [72] and also investigated the effect of temperature on the growth mechanism of the multilayers [98].

Deposition of multilayers onto surface was investigated with Atomic Force Microscopy method. AFM imaging studies showed that PIPOX/TA-DOX films had higher surface roughness than that of PIPOX/TA film by comparing 4 and 7- bilayers of PIPOX/TA-DOX and PIPOX/TA films (Fig. 16). Irregular packing of TA-DOX was contribute to higher surface roughness of the PIPOX/TA-DOX films was displayed in Fig 16. In addition, the lower number of binding points among PIPOX and TA-DOX than that among PIPOX and TA might have led to higher number loops within the multilayers resulting in increased surface roughness. Rubner and Sukhishvili have previously reported on the correlation between the number of binding points among the layers and surface roughness for electrostatic [131] and hydrogen-bonded [95] multilayers, respectively. When the number of layer was increased, the difference in roughness got more significant. The higher surface roughness of PIPOX/TA-DOX films can be correlated with the incomplete and irregular packing of the TA-DOX at the surface. When PIPOX meets with the surface coated with TA-DOX, the adsorption on the TA-DOX, in other words, the higher parts of the surface are more likely than being adsorbed on the incomplete parts, resulting in an increase in surface roughness with increasing number of layers.



Figure 16. AFM images and rms roughness values of 4- and 7- bilayers of PIPOX/TA-DOX and PIPOX/TA films. The average surface roughness values were estimated over 2 μm x 2 μm areas on three different randomly selected places of the sample surface.

3.6. pH-stability of Multilayers

pH-stability of the LbL films were examined prior to DOX release studies. Deposited multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX at pH 6.5, were exposed to 0.01 M phosphate buffer solutions of decreasing pH for 30 minutes. For comparison, PIPOX/TA films which were prepared at pH 6.5 and exposed to similar conditions were also examined and represented in Figure 17.

As clearly seen in the Figure 17, film thickness remained almost constant for both films in the acidic region. This can be explained by the protonation of hydroxyl

groups of TA with decreasing pH, enhancing the H-bonding interactions among PIPOX and TA and keeping the multilayers intact. The same process was applied for the control of pH stability of multilayers with increasing pH. When multilayers were exposed to basic conditions, both films were stable until pH 8.5. PIPOX/TA films showed a sharp decrease in film thickness and removed almost completely from the surface at pH 9 due to ionization of TA and loss of H-bonding interactions among PIPOX and TA layers. Different from PIPOX/TA films, multilayers composed of PIPOX and TA-DOX showed gradual decrease in film thickness between pH 8.5 and pH 10.5. The difference in the pH-stability profiles can be explained by the electrostatic screening of negative charge on TA by DOX molecules within the multilayers. The negative charge arising from the ionization of hydroxyl groups of TA with increasing pH was screened by the positively charged DOX molecules. This leads to both lower electrostatic repulsions among the TA molecules and lower increase in osmotic pressure than that in PIPOX/TA multilayers, thus higher stability at basic pH. The effect of electrostatic screening and compensation of the excess charge within the multilayers by multivalent salt ions on the post-assembly stability of hydrogen-bonded multilayers has been reported earlier [131, 132].

Erel et al. has previously reported that PIPOX/TA films which were constructed at pH 2, eroded completely at pH 10 when exposed to buffer solutions of increasing pH for 30 minutes [97]. Here, the same polymer pair was constructed at pH 6.5, multilayers completely dissolved at pH 9. At pH 2, TA has higher number of protonated hydroxyl groups, therefore PIPOX/TA films have higher number of binding points among the layers which led to greater stability at the basic region.



Figure 17. pH stability of multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX at acidic (Panel A) and basic (Panel B) pH conditions. pH stability of PIPOX/TA films are plotted for comparison.

3.7. pH stability in PBS Solution

The aim of this study was to develop a pH-responsive model nano-carrier in which the drug release could be triggered by the acidic nature of the tumor environment. For this reason, multilayers should release no or minimal amount of DOX at physiological conditions but release DOX at moderately acidic conditions. To mimic the biological conditions, the stability of DOX containing multilayers in PBS at acidic and neutral conditions were performed prior to release studies.

The thickness increased by ~ 20 % when the films were exposed to PBS solutions at acidic or neutral conditions. The comparison of the fraction retained at the surface of PIPOX/TA-DOX films at low and high ionic strength at acidic and neutral conditions was shown at Figure 18. The difference in the mass adsorbed at the surface between low and high ionic strength conditions can be correlated with the absorption of salt ions from the PBS solution by the multilayers. On the other hand, additional water molecules were expected to be entrapped within the film structure due to enhanced hydrophilicity of the polyelectrolytes when paired with the salt ions [134]. Furthermore, the pH-stability of multilayers in PBS solution were contrasted at 25 °C and 37.5 °C. As seen in Figure 19, there was no a significant difference between the behavior of the films at 25 °C and 37.5 °C when the multilayers were exposed to PBS solutions of different pH only for 30 minutes.



Figure 18. pH-stability of multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX at low and high ionic strength at acidic and neutral conditions at 25 °C.



Figure 19. Comparison of the pH-stability of the multilayers in PBS at 25 °C and 37.5 °C.

3.8. Long-term pH-stability in PBS Solution

Prior to release studies, long-term film stability in PBS was also examined. Multilayers were exposed to PBS solution at pH 7.5, pH 6.5 or pH 5.5 at 25 °C or 37.5 °C for 7 hours. Figure 20 shows the fraction retained at surface after exposure to PBS solutions for 7 hours at 25 °C or 37.5 °C. As discussed in the previous section in detail, the mass adsorbed at the surface increased both at 25 °C and 37.5 °C. However different from the results obtained with short term exposure to PBS solutions, long-term exposure to the same conditions at 37.5 °C resulted in greater amount of mass adsorbed at the surface than that at 25 °C. This difference can be correlated with the LCST behavior of PIPOX. PIPOX, which has a cloud point of ~ 40 °C as determined by hydrodynamic size measurements in water using DLS technique represented in Section 3.3, is expected to transform from extended coil to phase separated globular conformation in long term at 37.5 °C. This conformational change possibly resulted in formation of void-like structures which might have retained greater amount of salt ions and water molecules within the multilayers.



Figure 20. pH-stability of DOX containing multilayers in PBS at pH 5.5, pH 6.5 and pH 7.5 at 25 °C (grey columns) and 37.5 °C (red columns) for seven hours. Black columns represent the multilayers before immersion into PBS solution.

The AFM images of the multilayer films after exposure to 37.5 °C for 7 hours also support the post-assembly morphological changes within the multilayers. As seen in Figure 21, an increase in the lateral dimensions of the surface aggregates was observed when the multilayers were exposed to 37.5 °C both at pH 7.5 and pH 5.5, possibly indicating the swelling of the films due to greater amount of water molecules entrapped within the multilayers.



Figure 21. AFM images of multilayers composed of PIPOX and TA-DOX after exposure to PBS solution for 7 hours at pH 7.5 at 25 °C (A); at pH 7.5 at 37.5 °C (B); at pH 5 at 25 °C (C) and at pH 5 at 37.5 °C (D). The average surface roughness values were estimated over 1 μm x 1 μm areas on three different randomly selected places of the sample surface.

3.9. DOX Release from the Multilayers

As the aim of study, fabricated multilayer DOX carriers should show no or minimal amount of DOX release at physiological conditions but release DOX at a moderately acidic environment. For this reason, DOX release experiments at pH 7.5 and pH 5.5 in PBS solution were performed. Additionally, as control experiment, the release of DOX was performed at pH 6.5, the pH at which the multilayers were constructed.

Multilayers were exposed to PBS solution at pH 7.5, pH 6.5 or pH 5.5. Samples were taken from the solution every 30 minutes and the fluorescence intensity at 588 nm was followed as a function of time until no significant change in the intensity was recorded. The DOX release at pH 7.5, pH 6.5 and pH 5.5 at 25 °C and 37.5 °C are shown in Figure 22.

The amount of DOX released from the multilayers at pH 7.5 was lower than that at pH 6.5 at both 25 °C and 37.5 °C. This can be explained by further ionization of TA with increasing pH and enhanced electrostatic interactions among TA and DOX molecules, providing minimal amount of DOX release from the surface at pH 7.5. DOX released from the multilayers at pH 6.5 was via self-diffusion mechanism. In contrast to release at pH 7.5, the release at pH 5.5 was significantly higher than that at pH 6.5 at both 25 °C and 37.5 °C. The release at pH 5.5 is based on a pH-responsive mechanism, DOX release is triggered by the protonation of the hydroxyl groups of TA as the acidity increased, resulting in partial loss of electrostatic interactions among TA and DOX molecules and release of DOX from the surface (Fig. 23). The significant difference in the amount of DOX released from the surface surface. Scheme 4 illustrates the DOX release from the multilayers at pH 7.5 and pH 5.5.





Figure 22. DOX release at pH 5.5, pH 6.5 and pH 7.5 at 25 °C and at 37.5 °C from the multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX.



Scheme 4. Schematic representation of DOX release from the multilayers of PIPOX and TA-DOX at pH 7.5 and pH 5.5 at 25 °C.

Of note, the emission spectrum of 10^{-7} M DOX showed that the intensity at 588 nm at pH 7.5 was higher than that pH 6.5 and the intensity at pH 6.5 was higher than that pH 5.5 (intensity at 588 nm at pH 7.5=18.29; intensity at 588 nm at pH 6.5=16.3; intensity at nm at pH 5.5=13.61). Therefore, for further analysis, a calibration curve will be prepared and the amount of DOX release at pH 7.5, pH 6.5 and pH 5.5 will be compared in more detail. Considering the differences in the intensity at 588 nm at different pH values, the difference in the amount of DOX released from the multilayers at pH 7.5 and pH 5.5 should increase. This detailed analysis is expected to demonstrate more clearly the pH-induced release of DOX at moderately acidic conditions.

A comparison in the amount of DOX released at 25 °C and 37.5 °C showed that DOX release increased at 37.5 °C. For example, as seen in Figure 23, the amount of DOX released at pH 5.5 at 37.5 °C was ~ 20 % higher than that at pH 5.5 at 25 °C. As discussed in Section 3.3, the cloud point of PIPOX was found to be ~ 40 °C in water. PIPOX is expected to adopt globular conformation close to its LCST resulting in formation of void-like structures within the multilayers. These voids possibly facilitated the release of DOX from the surface at 37.5 °C. Although the difference was smaller than that observed at pH 5.5, DOX release at pH 6.5 and pH 7.5 was also higher at 37.5 °C than that at 25 °C (Fig. 22). Scheme 5 illustrates the DOX release at pH 5.5 at 25 °C and 37.5 °C. Sukhishvili and co-workers reported on the enhanced permeability of thymol blue from multilayers containing polymers with a LCST [87]. Erel et al. has also reported on the effect of temperature on the pH-responsive release of pyrene from multilayers containing micelles of poly[2-(*N*-morpholino)ethyl methacrylate-*block*-2-(diisopropylamino) ethyl methacrylate] (PMEMA-*b*-PDPA) with PMEMA coronal chains exhibiting LCST behavior [109].



Figure 23. Comparison of the DOX release at 25 °C and 37.5 °C at pH 5.5.



Scheme 5. Schematic illustration of DOX release at 25 °C and 37.5 °C at pH 5.5.

Hammond and co-workers showed pH-triggered release of DOX at acidic conditions from hydrogen-bonded multilayers of block copolymer micelles. In that study, DOX was conjugated to the micellar core blocks via carbamate linkage and DOX release from the surface was induced via carbamate cleavage at acidic conditions [126]. Our study presents a simple approach to load and release DOX from/into the multilayers at moderately acidic conditions. DOX release from hydrogen-bonded multilayers has also been reported by other research groups. Kharlampieva and co-workers used DOX loaded silica nanoparticles as templates for LbL deposition of PVPON and TA at moderately acidic conditions. DOX release from the coatings was then examined at increasing pH values [124]. Sukhishvili and co-workers reported on hydrogenbonded multilayers of block copolymer micelles with temperature-responsive PNIPAM cores and demonstrated the release of DOX at a temperature below the LCST of PNIPAM [96]

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK

In this thesis, a simple strategy to incorporate DOX into hydrogen-bonded multilayers which showed minimal amount of DOX release at physiological pH but exhibit pH-induced release of DOX at acidic conditions was demonstrated. LbL films of PIPOX and water soluble complexes of oppositely charged TA and DOX were prepared at pH 6.5. The minimal DOX release at physiological pH can be correlated with the further ionization of TA with increasing pH and enhanced electrostatic interactions among phenolate groups of TA and primary amino groups of DOX. In contrast, pH-induced release at acidic conditions can be correlated with the protonation of TA as the acidity increased and with the loss of electrostatic interactions among DOX and TA. The amount of DOX released from the multilayers increased when the temperature was raised from 25 °C to 37.5 °C. This can be correlated to the conformational changes within the multilayers at a temperature close to LCST of PIPOX. The transition of PIPOX chains from extended coil to globular conformation was expected to result in formation of voids within the multilayers which possibly facilitated the release of DOX from the surface.

Hydrogen-bonded LbL films are of interest for biomedical applications due to lower ltoxicity of neutral polymers than the polycations as well as pH-response of the films at mild pH. However, most of the hydrogen-bonded films are stable at acidic conditions and are capable of releasing positively charged functional molecules with increasing pH. Therefore, it is challenging to prepare hydrogen-bonded multilayers which provide minimal release at physiological conditions but trigger release of positively charged drug molecules, e.g. DOX, at acidic environment. The only example of hydrogen-bonded multilayers which are stable at physiological pH but release DOX at acidic conditions was demonstrated by Hammond and co-workers [126]. In that study, DOX was conjugated to micellar core blocks of block copolymer micelles via carbamate linkage which was cleaved at acidic conditions, resulting in release of DOX molecules from the surface.

The work presented in this thesis is a simpler approach to induce DOX release from hydrogen-bonded multilayers at acidic conditions by taking advantage of the high pK_a of TA which ensured incorporation of DOX into the multilayers and at the same time enabled multilayer deposition at near-neutral pH. This study contributes to fundamental understanding of structure-property relationship in stimuli responsive hydrogen-bonded multilayers. Considering the acidic nature of tumor tissues together with the important biological properties of PIPOX and TA, such dual responsive multilayers can be promising for controlled delivery applications from surfaces.

The future work on this study will include the following parts:

- Biological activity of multilayers will be examined by fabrication of PIPOX/TA-DOX multilayers on silica nanoparticles and exposing them to different cancer cells such as colorectal or cervical cancer cells.
- Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles will be incorporated within the multilayers and release of DOX will be induced via application of AC magnetic field.
REFERENCES

- J.S.R. M.R.Aguilar*, C. Elvira, A. Gallardo, B. Vázquez, Smart polymers and their applications, J. Polym. Mater. 23 (2006) 225–248. doi:10.1533/9780857097026.1.45.
- [2] R. Ghizal, Smart Polymers and Their Applications, Int. J. Eng. Technol. Manag. Appl. Sci. 2 (2014) 104–115.
- [3] H. Priya James, R. John, A. Alex, Smart polymers for the controlled delivery of drugs a concise overview, Acta Pharm. Sin. B. 4 (2014) 120–127. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2014.02.005.
- [4] S.K. Filippov, P. Šte, M. Hruby, Smart polymers in drug delivery systems on crossroads : Which way deserves following ?, Eur. Polym. J. 65 (2015) 82–97. doi:10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2015.01.016.
- [5] I.Y. Galaev, B. Mattiasson, "Smart" polymers and what they could do in biotechnology and medicine, Trends Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 335–340.
- [6] Y. Qiu, K. Park, Environment-sensitive hydrogels for drug delivery ☆, Adv.
 Drug Deliv. Rev. 64 (2012) 49–60. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.024.
- [7] A.S. Hoffman, "Intelligent" Polymers in Medicine and Biotechnology, Macromol. Symp. 98 (1995) 645–664.
- [8] P. Bawa, V. Pillay, Y.E. Choonara, L.C. Toit, Stimuli-responsive polymers and their applications in drug delivery, Biomed. Mater. 4 (2009) 1–15. doi:10.1088/1748-6041/4/2/022001.
- [9] A. Kumar, A. Srivastava, I. Yu, B. Mattiasson, Smart polymers: Physical forms and bioengineering applications, Prog. Polym. Sci. 32 (2007) 1205– 1237. doi:10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2007.05.003.

- [10] D. Schmaljohann, Thermo- and pH-responsive polymers in drug delivery ☆,
 Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58 (2006) 1655–1670. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2006.09.020.
- [11] E.S. Gil, S.M. Hudson, Stimuli-reponsive polymers and their bioconjugates, Prog. Polym. Sci. 29 (2004) 1173–1222. doi:10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2004.08.003.
- [12] S.R. Abulateefeh, S.G. Spain, J.W. Aylott, W.C. Chan, M.C. Garnett, C. Alexander, Thermoresponsive polymer colloids for drug delivery and cancer therapy, Macromol. Biosci. 11 (2011) 1722–1734. doi:10.1002/mabi.201100252.
- [13] M.A. Ward, T.K. Georgiou, Thermoresponsive polymers for biomedical applications, Polymers (Basel). 3 (2011) 1215–1242. doi:10.3390/polym3031215.
- [14] C. Weber, R. Hoogenboom, U.S. Schubert, Temperature responsive biocompatible polymers based on poly(ethylene oxide) and poly(2-oxazoline)s, Prog. Polym. Sci. 37 (2012) 686–714. doi:10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2011.10.002.
- J.E. Chung, M. Yokoyama, M. Yamato, T. Aoyagi, Y. Sakurai, T. Okano, Thermo-responsive drug delivery from polymeric micelles constructed using block copolymers of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) and poly(butylmethacrylate), J. Control. Release. 62 (1999) 115–127. doi:10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00029-2.
- [16] F. Eeckman, K. Amighi, A.J. Moës, Effect of some physiological and nonphysiological compounds on the phase transition temperature of thermoresponsive polymers intended for oral controlled-drug delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 222 (2001) 259–270. doi:10.1016/S0378-5173(01)00716-5.
- [17] M. Nakayama, T. Okano, T. Miyazaki, F. Kohori, K. Sakai, M. Yokoyama, Molecular design of biodegradable polymeric micelles for temperatureresponsive drug release, J. Control. Release. 115 (2006) 46–56. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.07.007.

- [18] A.S. Hoffman, Applications of thermally reversible polymers and hydrogels in therapeutics and diagnostics, J. Control. Release. 6 (1987) 297–305. doi:10.1016/0168-3659(87)90083-6.
- [19] P. Schattling, F.D. Jochum, P. Theato, Multi-stimuli responsive polymers the all-in-one talents, Polym. Chem. 5 (2014) 25–36. doi:10.1039/C3PY00880K.
- [20] I. Dimitrov, B. Trzebicka, A.H.E. Müller, A. Dworak, C.B. Tsvetanov, Thermosensitive water-soluble copolymers with doubly responsive reversibly interacting entities, Prog. Polym. Sci. 32 (2007) 1275–1343. doi:10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2007.07.001.
- [21] S. Fujishige, K. Kubota, I. Ando, Phase transition of aqueous solutions of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) and poly(N-isopropylmethacrylamide), J. Phys. Chem. 93 (1989) 3311–3313. doi:10.1021/j100345a085.
- [22] R. Hoogenboom, H. Schlaad, Bioinspired Poly(2-oxazoline)s, Polymers (Basel). 3 (2011) 467–488. doi:10.3390/polym3010467.
- [23] N. Adams, U.S. Schubert, Poly (2-oxazolines) in biological and biomedical application contexts, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 59 (2007) 1504–1520. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2007.08.018.
- [24] J.M. Brown, Tumor Hypoxia in Cancer Therapy, Methods Enzymol. 435 (2007). doi:10.1016/S0076-6879(07)35015-5.
- [25] S. Dai, P. Ravi, K.C. Tam, pH-Responsive polymers: synthesis, properties and applications, Soft Matter. 4 (2008) 435. doi:10.1039/b714741d.
- [26] Q.A. Pankhurst, J. Connolly, J.S. K, J. Dobson, Applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine, J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys. 36 (2003) R167–R181. doi:10.1088/0022-3727/36/13/201.
- [27] J.D.G. Durán, J.L. Arias, V. Gallardo, A. V. Delgado, Magnetic colloids as drug vehicles, J. Pharm. Sci. 97 (2008) 2948–2983. doi:10.1002/jps.21249.

- [28] L.L. Lao, R. V. Ramanujan, Magnetic and hydrogel composite materials for hyperthermia applications, J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med. 15 (2004) 1061–1064. doi:10.1023/B:JMSM.0000046386.78633.e5.
- [29] M. Czaun, L. Hevesi, M. Takafuji, H. Ihara, A novel approach to magnetoresponsive polymeric gels assisted by iron nanoparticles as nano crosslinkers., Chem. Commun. (Camb). (2008) 2124–2126. doi:10.1039/b717721f.
- [30] Z. Lu, M.D. Prouty, Z. Quo, V.O. Golub, C.S.S.R. Kumar, Y.M. Lvov, Magnetic switch of permeability for polyelectrolyte microcapsules embedded with Co@Aunanoparticles, Langmuir. 21 (2005) 2042–2050. doi:10.1021/la047629q.
- [31] J.F.P. Da Silva Gomes, A. Rank, A. Kronenberger, J. Fritz, M. Winterhalter,
 Y. Ramaye, Polyelectrolyte-coated unilamellar nanometer-sized magnetic liposomes, Langmuir. 25 (2009) 6793–6799. doi:10.1021/la9003142.
- [32] T. Neuberger, B. Schöpf, H. Hofmann, M. Hofmann, B. Von Rechenberg, Superparamagnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications: Possibilities and limitations of a new drug delivery system, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 293 (2005) 483–496. doi:10.1016/j.jmmm.2005.01.064.
- [33] A.K. Anal, Stimuli-induced Pulsatile or Triggered Release Delivery Systems for Bioactive Compounds, Recent Pat. Endocr. Metab. Immune Drug Discov. 1 (2007) 83–90.
- [34] S. Murdan, Electro-responsive drug delivery from hydrogels, J. Control. Release. 92 (2003) 1–17.
- [35] F.P. Nicoletta, D. Cupelli, P. Formoso, G. de Filpo, V. Colella, A. Gugliuzza, Light responsive polymer membranes: A review, Membranes (Basel). 2 (2012) 134–197. doi:10.3390/membranes2010134.
- [36] N. Wagner, P. Theato, Light-induced wettability changes on polymer surfaces, Polymer . 55 (2014) 3436–3453. doi:10.1016/j.polymer.2014.05.033.

- [37] D. A. Tomalia, D. P. Sheetz, Homopolymerization of 2-alkyl- and 2-aryl-2oxazolines, J. Polym. Sci. Part A-1 Polym. Chem. 4 (1966) 2253–2265. doi:10.1002/pol.1966.150040919.
- [38] W. Seeliger, E. Aufderhaar, W. Diepers, R. Feinauer, R. Nehring, W. Thier,
 H. Hellmann, Recent syntheses and reactions of cyclic imidic esters., Angew.
 Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 5 (1966) 875–888. doi:10.1002/anie.196608751.
- [39] T. Kagiya, T. Maeda, K. Fukui, S. Narisawa, Ring Opening Polymerization Of
 2-Substituted 2-Oxazolines\r, Polym. Lett. 4 (1966) 441–445.
 doi:10.1002/pol.1966.110040701.
- [40] A. Levy, M. Litt, Polymerization Of Cyclic Imino Ethers. I. Oxazolines, Polym. Lett. 5 (1967) 871–879. doi:10.1002/pol.1967.110050927.
- [41] S. Kobayashi, Ethylenimine polymers, Prog. Polym. Sci. 15 (1990) 751–823.
 doi:10.1016/0079-6700(90)90011-O.
- [42] R. Luxenhofer, Y. Han, A. Schulz, J. Tong, Z. He, A. V. Kabanov, R. Jordan, Poly(2-oxazoline)s as polymer therapeutics, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 33 (2012) 1613–1631. doi:10.1002/marc.201200354.
- [43] R. Hoogenboom, Poly(2-oxazoline)s: Alive and kicking, Macromol. Chem. Phys. 208 (2007) 18–25. doi:10.1002/macp.200600558.
- [44] R. Hoogenboom, Poly (2-oxazoline) s: A Polymer Class with Numerous Potential Applications, Angew. Chemie - Int. Ed. 48 (2009) 7978–7994. doi:10.1002/anie.200901607.
- [45] E. Rossegger, V. Schenk, F. Wiesbrock, Design strategies for functionalized poly(2-oxazoline)s and derived materials, Polymers (Basel). 5 (2013) 956– 1011. doi:10.3390/polym5030956.
- [46] T. Bodner, L. Ellmaier, V. Schenk, J. Albering, F. Wiesbrock, Delocalized π electrons in 2-oxazoline rings resulting in negatively charged nitrogen atoms: Revealing the selectivity during the initiation of cationic ring-opening polymerizations, Polym. Int. 60 (2011) 1173–1179. doi:10.1002/pi.3126.

- [47] T.X. Viegas, M.D. Bentley, J.M. Harris, Z. Fang, K. Yoon, B. Dizman, R. Weimer, A. Mero, G. Pasut, F.M. Veronese, Polyoxazoline: Chemistry, properties, and applications in drug delivery, Bioconjug. Chem. 22 (2011) 976–986. doi:10.1021/bc200049d.
- [48] B. Guillerm, S. Monge, V. Lapinte, J.J. Robin, How to modulate the chemical structure of polyoxazolines by appropriate functionalization, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 33 (2012) 1600–1612. doi:10.1002/marc.201200266.
- [49] R. Hoogenboom, M.W.M. Fijten, U.S. Schubert, Parallel Kinetic Investigation of 2-Oxazoline Polymerizations with Different Initiators as Basis for Designed Copolymer Synthesis, J. Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem. 42 (2004) 1830– 1840. doi:10.1002/pola.20024.
- [50] H. Uyama, S. Kobayashi, A Novel Thermo-Sensitive Polymer. Poly(2-iso-propyl-2-oxazoline)., Chem. Lett. (1992) 1643–1646. doi:10.1246/cl.1992.1643.
- [51] M. Glassner, K. Lava, V.R. de la Rosa, R. Hoogenboom, Tuning the LCST of poly(2-cyclopropyl-2-oxazoline) via gradient copolymerization with 2-ethyl-2-oxazoline, J. Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem. (2014) 3118–3122. doi:10.1002/pola.27364.
- [52] B.K.H.R. Verbraeken, Poly (2-Oxazoline) S, Encycl. Polym. Sci. Technol. (2014) 1–39.
- [53] C. Weber, R. Hoogenboom, U.S. Schubert, Temperature responsive biocompatible polymers based on poly(ethylene oxide) and poly(2-oxazoline)s, Prog. Polym. Sci. 37 (2012) 686–714. doi:10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2011.10.002.
- [54] R. Konradi, C. Acikgoz, M. Textor, Polyoxazolines for nonfouling surface coatings - A direct comparison to the gold standard PEG, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 33 (2012) 1663–1676. doi:10.1002/marc.201200422.

- [55] V.R. De La Rosa, Poly(2-oxazoline)s as materials for biomedical applications,
 J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med. 25 (2014) 1211–1225. doi:10.1007/s10856-013-5034-y.
- [56] B. Pidhatika, M. Rodenstein, Y. Chen, E. Rakhmatullina, A. Mühlebach, C. Acikgöz, M. Textor, R. Konradi, Comparative stability studies of Poly(2-methyl-2-oxazoline) and Poly(ethylene glycol) brush coatings, Biointerphases. 7 (2012). doi:10.1007/s13758-011-0001-y.
- [57] C. Diab, Y. Akiyama, K. Kataoka, F.M. Winnik, Microcalorimetric Study of the Temperature-Induced Phase Separation in Aqueous Solutions of Poly(2isopropyl-2-oxazolines), Macromolecules. 37 (2004) 2556–2562. doi:10.1021/ma0358733.
- [58] J. Zhao, R. Hoogenboom, G. Van Assche, B. Van Mele, Demixing and remixing kinetics of poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) (PIPOZ) aqueous solutions studied by modulated temperature differential scanning calorimetry, Macromolecules. 43 (2010) 6853–6860. doi:10.1021/ma1012368.
- [59] H. Cheng, L. Shen, C. Wu, LLS and FTIR Studies on the Hysteresis in Association and Dissociation of Poly (N- isopropylacrylamide) Chains in Water, Macromolecules. 39 (2006) 2325–2329.
- [60] T. Li, H. Tang, P. Wu, Molecular Evolution of Poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) Aqueous Solution during the Liquid-Liquid Phase Separation and Phase Transition Process, Langmuir. 31 (2015) 6870–6878. doi:10.1021/acs.langmuir.5b01009.
- [61] S. Huber, N. Hutter, R. Jordan, Effect of end group polarity upon the lower critical solution temperature of poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline), Colloid Polym. Sci. 286 (2008) 1653–1661. doi:10.1007/s00396-008-1942-7.
- [62] J.S. Park, K. Kataoka, Precise control of lower critical solution temperature of thermosensitive poly(2-isopropyl-2-oxazoline) via gradient copolymerization with 2-ethyl-2-oxazoline as a hydrophilic comonomer, Macromolecules. 39 (2006) 6622–6630. doi:10.1021/ma0605548.

- [63] S. Huber, R. Jordan, Modulation of the lower critical solution temperature of 2-Alkyl-2-oxazoline copolymers, Colloid Polym. Sci. 286 (2008) 395–402. doi:10.1007/s00396-007-1781-y.
- [64] C. Diehl, H. Schlaad, Thermo-responsive polyoxazolines with widely tuneable LCST, Macromol. Biosci. 9 (2009) 157–161. doi:10.1002/mabi.200800213.
- [65] M. Meyer, H. Schlaad, R. V March, V. Re, M. Recei, V. March, Poly (2isopropyl-2-oxazoline) - Poly (L -glutamate) Block Copolymers through Ammonium-Mediated NCA Polymerization, Macromolecules. 39 (2006) 3967–3970.
- [66] R. Hoogenboom, H.M.L. Thijs, M.J.H.C. Jochems, B.M. Van Lankvelt, W.M.
 Fijten, U.S. Schubert, Tuning the LCST of poly(2-oxazoline) s by varying composition and molecular weight: alternatives to poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)?, Chem. Commun. (2008) 5758–5760. doi:10.1039/b813140f.
- [67] M.M. Bloksma, D.J. Bakker, C. Weber, R. Hoogenboom, U.S. Schubert, The effect of hofmeister salts on the LCST transition of poly(2-oxazoline)s with varying hydrophilicity, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 31 (2010) 724–728. doi:10.1002/marc.200900843.
- [68] L. Zhai, Stimuli-responsive polymer films., Chem. Soc. Rev. 42 (2013) 7148– 7160. doi:10.1039/c3cs60023h.
- [69] R.K. Iler, Multilayers of colloidal particles, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 21 (1966) 569–594. doi:10.1016/0095-8522(66)90018-3.
- [70] G. Decher, J.D. Hong, Buildup of Ultrathin Multilayer Films by a Self-Assembly Process .1. Consecutive Adsorption of Anionic and Cationic Bipolar Amphiphiles on Charged Surfaces, Makromol. Chem. Macromol. Symp. 46 (1991) 321–327. doi:10.1002/masy.19910460145.

- [71] M. Keeney, X.Y. Jiang, M. Yamane, M. Lee, S. Goodman, F. Yang, Nanocoating for biomolecule delivery using layer-by-layer self-assembly, J. Mater. Chem. B. 3 (2015) 8757–8770. doi:10.1039/C5TB00450K.
- [72] A. Sundaramurthy, M. Vergaelen, S. Maji, R. Auzély-Velty, Z. Zhang, B.G. De Geest, R. Hoogenboom, Hydrogen Bonded Multilayer Films Based on Poly(2-oxazoline)s and Tannic Acid, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 3 (2014) 2040–2047. doi:10.1002/adhm.201400377.
- [73] W.B. Stockton, M.F. Rubner, Molecular-Level Processing of Conjugated Polymers . 4 . Layer-by-Layer Manipulation of Polyaniline via Hydrogen-Bonding Interactions, Macromolecules. 30 (1997) 2717–2725.
- [74] L. Wang, S. Cui, Z. Wang, X. Zhang, L. Chi, H. Fuchs, Multilayer Assemblies of Copolymer PSOH and PVP on the Basis of Hydrogen Bonding, Langmuir. 16 (2000) 10490–10494.
- [75] S.A. Sukhishvili, S. Granick, Layered , Erasable , Ultrathin Polymer Films, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 122 (2000) 9550–9551. doi:10.1021/ja002410t.
- [76] S.A. Sukhishvili, S. Granick, Layered, Erasable Polymer Multilayers Formed by Hydrogen-Bonded Sequential Self-Assembly, Macromolecules. 35 (2002) 301–310. doi:10.1021/ma011346c CCC:
- [77] X. Zhang, H. Chen, H. Zhang, H. Chen, Layer-by-layer assembly: from conventional to unconventional methods, Chem. Commun. (2007) 1395–1405. doi:10.1039/b615590a.
- [78] P. Bertrand, A. Jonas, A. Laschewsky, R. Legras, Ultrathin polymer coatings by complexation of polyelectrolytes at interfaces: suitable materials, structure and properties, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 21 (2000) 319–348. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-3927(20000401)21:73.0.CO;2-7.
- [79] J.F. Quinn, A.P.R. Johnston, G.K. Such, A.N. Zelikin, F. Caruso, J.F. Quinn, Next generation, sequentially assembled ultrathin films: beyond electrostatics, Chem. Soc. Rev. 36 (2007) 707–718. doi:10.1039/b610778h.

- [80] P.K. Deshmukh, K.P. Ramani, S.S. Singh, A.R. Tekade, V.K. Chatap, G.B. Patil, S.B. Bari, Stimuli-sensitive layer-by-layer (LbL) self-assembly systems: Targeting and biosensory applications, J. Control. Release. 166 (2013) 294–306. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.12.033.
- [81] D. Choi, J. Hong, Layer-by-layer assembly of multilayer films for controlled drug release, Arch. Pharm. Res. 37 (2014) 79–87. doi:10.1007/s12272-013-0289-x.
- [82] B.M. Wohl, J.F.J. Engbersen, Responsive layer-by-layer materials for drug delivery, J. Control. Release. 158 (2012) 2–14. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.08.035.
- [83] S.A. Sukhishvili, Responsive polymer films and capsules via layer-by-layer assembly, Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 10 (2005) 37–44. doi:10.1016/j.cocis.2005.05.001.
- [84] A.P.R. Johnston, C. Cortez, A.S. Angelatos, F. Caruso, Layer-by-layer engineered capsules and their applications, Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 11 (2006) 203–209. doi:10.1016/j.cocis.2006.05.001.
- [85] J.F. Quinn, F. Caruso, Facile Tailoring of Film Morphology and Release Properties Using Layer-by-Layer Assembly of Thermoresponsive Materials, Langmuir. 20 (2004) 20–22.
- [86] J.F. Quinn, F. Caruso, Thermoresponsive Nanoassemblies: Layer-by-Layer Assembly of Hydrophilic - Hydrophobic Alternating Copolymers, Macromolecules. 38 (2005) 3414–3419. doi:10.1021/ma047414n.
- [87] E. Kharlampieva, V. Kozlovskaya, J. Tyutina, S.A. Sukhishvili, Hydrogen-Bonded Multilayers of Thermoresponsive Polymers, Macromolecules. 38 (2005) 10523–10531.
- [88] J.F. Quinn, A.P.R. Johnston, G.K. Such, A.N. Zelikin, F. Caruso, Next generation, sequentially assembled ultrathin films: beyond electrostatics., Chem. Soc. Rev. 36 (2007) 707–718. doi:10.1039/b610778h.

- [89] A. Zhuk, S. Pavlukhina, S.A. Sukhishvili, Hydrogen-bonded layer-by-layer temperature-triggered release films, Langmuir. 25 (2009) 14025–14029. doi:10.1021/la901478v.
- [90] V. Kozlovskaya, E. Kharlampieva, I. Drachuk, D. Cheng, V. V Tsukruk, Responsive microcapsule reactors based on hydrogen-bonded tannic acid layer-by-layer assemblies, Soft Matter. 6 (2010) 3596–3608. doi:10.1039/b927369g.
- [91] M.K.M. Leung, G.K. Such, A.P.R. Johnston, D.P. Biswas, Z. Zhu, Y. Yan, J.F. Lutz, F. Caruso, Assembly and degradation of low-fouling clickfunctionalized poly(ethylene glycol)-based multilayer films and capsules, Small. 7 (2011) 1075–1085. doi:10.1002/smll.201002258.
- [92] X. Liang, V. Kozlovskaya, Y. Chen, O. Zavgorodnya, E. Kharlampieva, Thermosensitive Multilayer Hydrogels of Poly(N -vinylcaprolactam) as Nanothin Films and Shaped Capsules, Chem. Mater. 24 (2012) 3707–3719. doi:10.1021/cm301657q.
- [93] Z. Zhao, L. Yin, G. Yuan, L. Wang, Layer-by-layer assembly of two temperature-responsive homopolymers at neutral ph and the temperaturedependent solubility of the multilayer film, Langmuir. 28 (2012) 2704–2709. doi:10.1021/la2045042.
- [94] J.F. Quinn, F. Caruso, Facile Tailoring of Film Morphology and Release Properties Using Layer-by-Layer Assembly of Thermoresponsive Materials, Langmuir. 20 (2004) 20–22. doi:10.1021/la0360310.
- [95] E. Kharlampieva, S.A. Sukhishvili, Hydrogen-Bonded Layer-by-Layer Polymer Films, J. Macromol. Sci. Part C Polym. Rev. 46 (2006) 377–395. doi:10.1080/15583720600945386.
- [96] Z. Zhu, N. Gao, H. Wang, S.A. Sukhishvili, Temperature-triggered ondemand drug release enabled by hydrogen-bonded multilayers of block copolymer micelles, J. Control. Release. 171 (2013) 73–80. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.06.031.

- [97] I. Erel, H. Schlaad, A.L. Demirel, Effect of structural isomerism and polymer end group on the pH-stability of hydrogen-bonded multilayers, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 361 (2011) 477–482. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2011.05.033.
- [98] A. Antunes, M. Dierendonck, G. Vancoillie, J.P. Remon, R. Hoogenboom, B.G. De Geest, Hydrogen bonded polymeric multilayer films assembled below and above the cloud point temperature, Chem. Commun. 49 (2013) 9663–9665. doi:10.1039/c3cc45068f.
- [99] K. Kempe, S.L. Ng, K.F. Noi, M. Müllner, S.T. Gunawan, F. Caruso, Clickable poly(2-oxazoline) architectures for the fabrication of low-fouling polymer capsules, ACS Macro Lett. 2 (2013) 1069–1072. doi:10.1021/mz400522e.
- [100] K. Kempe, S.L. Ng, S.T. Gunawan, K.F. Noi, F. Caruso, Intracellularly degradable hydrogen-bonded polymer capsules, Adv. Funct. Mater. 24 (2014) 6187–6194. doi:10.1002/adfm.201401397.
- [101] A.J. Chung, M.F. Rubner, Methods of loading and releasing low molecular weight cationic molecules in weak polyelectrolyte multilayer films, Langmuir. 18 (2002) 1176–1183. doi:10.1021/la010873m.
- [102] K. Yoshida, K. Sato, J. Anzai, Layer-by-layer polyelectrolyte films containing insulin for pH-triggered release, J. Mater. Chem. 20 (2010) 1546–1552. doi:10.1039/B918226H.
- [103] K.C. Wood, J.Q. Boedicker, D.M. Lynn, P.T. Hammond, Tunable Drug Release from Hydrolytically Degradable Layer-by-Layer Thin Films, Langmuir. 21 (2005) 1603–1609. doi:10.1021/la0476480.
- [104] L. Wang, K. feng Ren, H. bo Wang, Y. Wang, J. Ji, pH-sensitive controlled release of doxorubicin from polyelectrolyte multilayers, Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces. 125 (2015) 127–133. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.11.017.

- [105] B.-S. Kim, H.-I. Lee, Y. Min, Z. Poon, P.T. Hammond, Hydrogen-bonded multilayer of pH-responsive polymeric micelles with tannic acid for surface drug delivery., Chem. Commun. (Camb). (2009) 4194–4196. doi:10.1039/b908688a.
- [106] Y. Cao, W. He, Synthesis and characterization of glucocorticoid functionalized poly(N -vinyl pyrrolidone): A versatile prodrug for neural interface, Biomacromolecules. 11 (2010) 1298–1307. doi:10.1021/bm100095t.
- [107] L. Wang, D. Chen, J. Sun, Layer-by-layer deposition of polymeric microgel films on surgical sutures for loading and release of ibuprofen, Langmuir. 25 (2009) 7990–7994. doi:10.1021/la9004664.
- [108] E. Kharlampieva, S.A. Sukhishvili, Release of a dye from hydrogen-bonded and electrostatically assembled polymer films triggered by adsorption of a polyelectrolyte, Langmuir. 20 (2004) 9677–9685. doi:10.1021/la048763d.
- [109] I. Erel, H.E. Karahan, C. Tuncer, V. Bütün, a. L. Demirel, Hydrogen-bonded multilayers of micelles of a dually responsive dicationic block copolymer, Soft Matter. 8 (2012) 827. doi:10.1039/c1sm06248d.
- [110] M.Y. Sen, J.E. Puskas, Green polymer chemistry: Telechelic poly(ethylene glycol)s via enzymatic catalysis, Am. Chem. Soc. Polym. Prepr. Div. Polym. Chem. 49 (2008) 487–488. doi:10.1002/pola.
- [111] J. Huang, Q. Shu, L. Wang, H. Wu, A.Y. Wang, H. Mao, Layer-by-layer assembled milk protein coated magnetic nanoparticle enabled oral drug delivery with high stability in stomach and enzyme-responsive release in small intestine, Biomaterials. 39 (2015) 105–113. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.10.059.
- [112] J.W. Liu, Y. Zhang, C.Y. Wang, R.Z. Xu, Z.P. Chen, N. Gu, Magnetically Sensitive Alginate-Templated Polyelectrolyte Multilayer Microcapsules for Controlled Release of Doxorubicin, J. Phys. Chem. C. 114 (2010) 7673–7679. doi:Doi 10.1021/Jp911933b.

- [113] Z. Tang, Y. Wang, P. Podsiadlo, N.A. Kotov, Biomedical applications of layer-by-layer assembly: From biomimetics to tissue engineering, Adv. Mater. 18 (2006) 3203–3224. doi:10.1002/adma.200600113.
- [114] F. Yamauchi, K. Kato, H. Iwata, Layer-by-Layer Assembly of Poly(ethyleneimine) and Plasmid DNA onto Transparent Indium-Tin Oxide Electrodes for Temporally and Spatially Specific Gene Transfer, Langmuir. 21 (2005) 8360–8367.
- [115] D.J. Schmidt, J.S. Moskowitz, P.T. Hammond, Electrically Triggered Release of a Small Molecule Drug from a Polyelectrolyte Multilayer Coating, Chem. Mater. 22 (2011) 6416–6425. doi:10.1021/cm102578j.Electrically.
- [116] K.C. Wood, N.S. Zacharia, D.J. Schmidt, S.N. Wrightman, B.J. Andaya, P.T. Hammond, Electroactive controlled release thin films., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 2280–2285. doi:10.1073/pnas.0706994105.
- [117] J. Li, L. He, J. Wang, Z.T. Zhang, J. Shi, X.Z. Zhang, Y.P. Cao, Y. Chen, Light-controlled drug releasing polymer films combining LbL self-assembly and host-guest interactions, Express Polym. Lett. 8 (2014) 143–153. doi:10.3144/expresspolymlett.2014.18.
- [118] A.S. Angelatos, B. Radt, F. Caruso, Light-Responsive Polyelectrolyte / Gold Nanoparticle Microcapsules, J. Phys. Chem. B. 109 (2005) 3071–3076. doi:10.1021/jp045070x.
- [119] S.S. Cao, Y. Zhang, L.L. Zhou, J.R. Chen, L. Fang, D. Fei, H.J. Zhu, Y. Ge, Stimuli-responsive controlled release and molecular transport from hierarchical hollow silica/polyelectrolyte multilayer formulations, J. Mater. Chem. B. 2 (2014) 7243–7249. doi:10.1039/c4tb01216j.
- [120] M.J. Serpe, K.A. Yarmey, C.M. Nolan, L.A. Lyon, Doxorubicin uptake and release from microgel thin films, Biomacromolecules. 6 (2005) 408–413. doi:10.1021/bm049455x.

- [121] V. Mohanta, G. Madras, S. Patil, Layer-by-layer assembled thin film of albumin nanoparticles for delivery of doxorubicin, J. Phys. Chem. C. 116 (2012) 5333–5341. doi:10.1021/jp209479n.
- [122] L. Zhou, M. Chen, Y. Guan, Y. Zhang, Dynamic layer-by-layer films linked with Schiff base bond for sustained drug release, RSC Adv. 5 (2015) 83914– 83921. doi:10.1039/C5RA17684K.
- [123] J. Liu, Y. Zhang, C. Wang, R. Xu, Z. Chen, N. Gu, Magnetically sensitive alginate-templated polyelectrolyte multilayer microcapsules for controlled release of doxorubicin, J. Phys. Chem. C. 114 (2010) 7673–7679. doi:10.1021/jp911933b.
- [124] F. Liu, V. Kozlovskaya, O. Zavgorodnya, C. Martinez-Lopez, S. Catledge, E. Kharlampieva, Encapsulation of anticancer drug by hydrogen-bonded multilayers of tannic acid, Soft Matter. 10 (2014) 9237–9247. doi:10.1039/C4SM01813C.
- [125] U. Manna, S. Bharani, S. Patil, Layer-by-layer self-assembly of modified hyaluronic acid/chitosan based on hydrogen bonding, Biomacromolecules. 10 (2009) 2632–2639. doi:10.1021/bm9005535.
- [126] B.-S. Kim, H.-I. Lee, Y. Min, Z. Poon, P.T. Hammond, Hydrogen-bonded multilayer of pH-responsive polymeric micelles with tannic acid for surface drug delivery., Chem. Commun. (2009) 4194–4196. doi:10.1039/b908688a.
- [127] K. Lava, B. Verbraeken, R. Hoogenboom, Poly(2-oxazoline)s and click chemistry: A versatile toolbox toward multi-functional polymers, Eur. Polym. J. 65 (2015) 98–111. doi:10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2015.01.014.
- [128] K. Kempe, M. Lobert, R. Hoogenboom, U.S. Schubert, Screening the Synthesis of 2-Substituted-2-oxazolines, Screen. Synth. 2-Substituted-2-Oxazolines. 11 (2009) 274–280.
- [129] I. Erel-unal, S.A. Sukhishvili, Hydrogen-Bonded Multilayers of a Neutral Polymer and a Polyphenol, Macromolecules. 41 (2008) 3962–3970.

- [130] C. Sanson, C. Schatz, J.F. Le Meins, A. Soum, J. Thevenot, E. Garanger, S. Lecommandoux, A simple method to achieve high doxorubicin loading in biodegradable polymersomes, J. Control. Release. 147 (2010) 428–435. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.07.123.
- [131] S.S. Shiratori, M.F. Rubner, pH-dependent thickness behavior of sequentially adsorbed layers of weak polyelectrolytes, Macromolecules. 33 (2000) 4213– 4219. doi:10.1021/ma991645q.
- [132] J.F. Quinn, F. Caruso, Multivalent-ion-mediated stabilization of hydrogenbonded multilayers, Adv. Funct. Mater. 16 (2006) 1179–1186. doi:10.1002/adfm.200500530.
- [133] E. Bag, O. Begik, P. Yusan, Erel-goktepe, Hydrogen-Bonded Multilayers With Controllable pH-Induced Disintegration Kinetics for Controlled Release Applications From Surfaces, J. Macromol. Sci. Part A Pure Appl. Chem. ISSN. 52 (2015) 286–298. doi:10.1080/10601325.2015.1007274.
- [134] S.T. Dubas, J.B. Schlenoff, Swelling and smoothing of polyelectrolyte multilayers by salt, Langmuir. 17 (2001) 7725–7727. doi:10.1021/la0112099.

APPENDIX



Figure A. 4. The change in the particle size distribution values with increasing amount of DOX in the TA-DOX.



Figure A. 5. The change in zeta-potential values with increasing amount of DOX in the TA-DOX.



Figure A. 6. The images demonstrate the increase in the turbidity of the solutions with increasing amount of DOX addition.



Figure A. 4. The size distribution by number curves of PIPOX at different temperature.